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1.  INTRODUCTION

In this original disciplinary proceeding, Joseph Carlucci appeared for the Office of the Chief Trial Counsel of the State Bar of California (hereafter “State Bar”).  Respondent Richard Isaac Fine represented himself.


Respondent’s extensive misconduct started in a class action lawsuit in the Los Angeles County Superior Court in which respondent represented many of the plaintiffs.  From a rather “simple” beginning in which respondent engaged in a battle with one superior court commissioner who ruled against him, respondent’s misconduct rapidly expanded.  Initially, respondent engaged in a pattern of deliberately and repeatedly misusing this state’s statutory process for challenging a judicial officer’s qualifications to decide a proceeding.  Then, when his misuse of that statutory process failed to produce the desired results, respondent moved his campaign to the federal courts where he repeatedly filed meritless lawsuits against the judicial officers.


For years, respondent’s abusive campaign has consumed excessive amounts of scarce state and federal judicial resources for corrupt and improper motives causing significant harm to the administration of justice.  Respondent’s misconduct strikes at the heart of our court system.


The State Bar contends that disbarment is the appropriate level of discipline for respondent’s misconduct.  This court agrees.  The evidence of respondent’s misconduct is overwhelming.

2.  PROCEDURAL HISTORY & PENDING MOTIONS

The State Bar filed and served the notice of disciplinary charges (hereafter “NDC”) in this proceeding on February 6, 2006.  Respondent filed his response to the NDC on June 19, 2006.  A trial on the merits was held on January 23 through 26, 2007 and on February 5 and 6, 2007.  The documentary record in this proceeding contains hundreds of pages of exhibits.  Thereafter, the parties filed posttrial briefs.


In the posttrial brief that respondent filed on June 1, 2007, respondent inappropriately included a motion to dismiss under Rules of Procedure of the State Bar of California, rule 262.1  Nonetheless, in the interest of justice, the court has considered the motion on the merits and determined that it is meritless.2  Accordingly, it is DENIED.


On July 9, 2007, respondent filed a motion to strike portions of a one of the State Bar’s post trial briefs.  On July 24, 2007, the court filed an order in which it denied that motion to strike and took the case under submission for decision.


On August 1, 2007, respondent filed a motion to vacate the court’s July 24, 2007, order denying his July 9, 2007, motion to strike.  Like many, if not almost all, of his prior motions in this proceeding, respondent’s August 1, 2007, motion to vacate is meritless.  Accordingly, it is DENIED. 


On October 4, 2007, respondent filed yet another motion to dismiss.  This time respondent titled his motion:  “motion to dismiss for fraud upon respondent and court by members of Office of Chief Trial Counsel rendering a defense impossible.”  On October 10, 2007, the State Bar filed (1) an opposition to respondent’s October 4, 2007, motion and (2) a statement of evidentiary objections to respondent’s declaration.  The court SUSTAINS each of the State Bar’s evidentiary objections.  The court, however, DENIES respondent’s October 4, 2007, motion to dismiss as meritless.3

Without question, respondent’s tactics and “procedural” maneuvering in this court (including respondent’s failure to seriously address the dispositive issues in his June 1, 2007, posttrial brief) has not only unnecessarily consumed the limited resources of both this court and State Bar, but it has also unnecessarily delayed the issuance of the court’s decision in this case and in other serious disciplinary cases.  This conduct demonstrates a “contemptuous attitude towards the disciplinary proceedings [which] is relevant to the determination of an appropriate sanction.  [Citations.]”  (Weber v. State Bar (1988) 47 Cal.3d 492, 507.)

3.  FINDINGS OF FACT & CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

A.  Jurisdiction  


Respondent was admitted to the practice of law in the State of California on May 3, 1973, and since that time has been an attorney at law and a member of the State Bar of California.


B.  Credibility Determination

This court has serious difficulty believing respondent.  After carefully considering, among other things, respondent's demeanor while testifying; the manner in which he testified; the character of his testimony; his interest in the outcome in this proceeding; and his capacity to perceive, recollect, and communicate the matters on which he testified, the court finds that respondent's testimony in this proceeding repeatedly lacked credibility, if not candor.  (See, generally, In the Matter of Berg (Review Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 725, 736; see also Brockway v. State Bar (1974) 53 Cal.3d 51, 66; In the Matter of Brockway (Review Dept. 2006) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 944, 959.)  Trial courts are not bound to accept as true the sworn testimony of a witness even in the absence of evidence contradicting it.  (REO Broadcasting Consultants v. Martin (1999) 69 Cal.App.4th 489, 498, fn. 7.)


Of course, the court's rejection of respondent's testimony " 'does not reveal the truth itself or warrant an inference that the truth is the direct converse of the rejected testimony.' "  (Edmondson v. State Bar (1981) 29 Cal.3d 339, 343, quoting Estate of Bould (1955) 135 Cal.App.2d 260, 265; see also In the Matter of DeMassa (Review Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 737, 749.)  Nor does the court's rejection of his testimony alter the principle that all reasonable doubts must be resolved in respondent's favor (In the Matter of Frazier (Review Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 676, 694).


In the absence of an admission, proving that an attorney acted with or for corrupt or improper motives of passion or interest (e.g., harassment, delay, revenge, etc.) is rarely, if ever, capable of being established with direct evidence.  Thus, such intent or motive is almost always established by circumstantial evidence.  Of course, in attorney disciplinary proceedings, the charges of misconduct must be established by clear and convincing evidence (whether direct,

 circumstantial, or a combination of both).  (In the Matter of Petilla (Review Dept. 2001) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 231, 237, and cases there cited.)


C.  Respondent’s Background

Respondent has a remarkable academic and professional background.  Respondent credibly testified to the following professional history, none of which was refuted by the State Bar.


Respondent received his bachelors degree from the University of Wisconsin, Madison in 1961, and his law degree from the University of Chicago in 1964.  He earned a Ph.D. in 1967 from the London School of Economics.  He has a Certificate of Comparative Law from the University of Strasbourg and a Certificate of Comparative Law from the International University of Luxembourg.  He also holds a certificate from The Hague Academy.  


In 1967, he worked for Coudert Bros. in its London, England office.  In 1968, he joined the United States Department of Justice in its Foreign Commerce Division.  In 1973-1974, he became Special Counsel to the City of Los Angeles, investigating Mayor Sam Yorty concerning the Pacific Palisades drilling sites.  He also founded the Los Angeles City Attorney’s antitrust division.  He is presently an inactive member of the State Bars of Washington, D.C. and Illinois.  He is a Distinguished Visitor of the Claremont School of Religion.


D.  Background Facts Surrounding the Alleged Misconduct


This matter has its birth in rulings made by a commissioner of the Los Angeles County Superior Court with which respondent strongly disagreed.  However, it is important to remember that this case is not about the propriety or correctness of the commissioner’s rulings.  Instead, this case turns on respondent’s improper and vindictive reactions to those rulings and to the rulings of other judicial officers (including Superior Court Judges and Court of Appeal Justices).


The record clearly establishes that, beginning in November 1999 and continuing until at least August 2006, respondent engaged in what amounts to an almost never-ending attack on anyone (including attorneys and judicial officers) who disagreed with him or otherwise got in his way.  After years of employing improper and vindictive litigation tactics, respondent had placed himself in a deep hole.  Rather than follow the adage “if you find yourself in a hole, stop digging,” respondent kept digging himself into deeper and deeper problems.  Most troubling, respondent fails to appreciate the harm he has imposed on so many people and on the court system.


In this decision, the court has attempted to group and discuss the charges with the lawsuits to which they apply.


E.  DiFlores State Court Action

In May 1996, respondent filed a class action on behalf of 19 representative plaintiffs.  The case was titled Paul DiFlores, et al. v. EHG National Health Services, et al., case number BC 150607 in the Los Angeles County Superior Court (hereafter “DiFlores”).4  The class action sought, among other things, to recover tort damages arising from about 1,000 medical examinations that were conducted by an imposter doctor for an insurance company.  The parties in DiFlores (including respondent) stipulated that Superior Court Commissioner Bruce E. Mitchell could serve as a temporary judge in the case with respect to all pretrial proceedings.


Thereafter, in February 1998, Commissioner Mitchell certified a liability class in DiFlores and appointed respondent to serve as class counsel on the issue of liability only.  As a result, respondent instantly gained about 349 new clients in DiFlores.  Eventually, the number of members of the liability class grew to about 491, with respondent representing about 75 percent of them as class counsel.



1.  Settlement and respondent’s requests for fees.  


In April 1999, Commissioner Mitchell gave his preliminary approval to a global settlement, which had an original settlement fund of $7,868,000.  The attorney's fees for all plaintiffs’ counsel was one-third of the total settlement (a little more that $2.6 million).  In his role as liability class counsel for about 75 percent of the class members, respondent would have likely ultimately received a very large percentage of this amount (possibly as much as $1.9 million).  Furthermore, as liability class counsel, respondent was later given a fractional interest in the claims of dozens of the other class members who were co-represented by other attorneys. 


In June 1999, after the DiFlores case settled, the parties executed and filed a stipulation with respect to the settlement in which they agreed, among other things, to promptly make an “ ‘application to the trial court for approval of [a stipulation for the entry of judgment on the settlement with] the court retaining jurisdiction to implement and enforce the terms of the settlement.’ ”  (Fine v. Superior Court, supra, 97 Cal.App.4th at p. 656.)  Thereafter, a “fairness hearing” on the settlement was set for June 23, 1999, before Commissioner Mitchell.


About a week before the fairness hearing, respondent filed a motion for partial distribution of attorney’s fees in which he sought (1) a $1.4 million “advance” on his share of the attorney's fees and costs and (2) a preliminary partial distribution of the settlement proceeds of $2,000 to each of the 19 named plaintiffs.  (Exhibit 1.)


At the June 23, 1999, fairness hearing, Commissioner Mitchell gave his final approval to the settlement and authorized partial distribution of $2,000 to each of the 19 named plaintiffs as an incentive award, but denied a partial distribution of attorney’s fees.  The superior court’s minutes for the fairness hearing state:

* * *

It is stipulated by counsel that this matter may be heard by Commissioner Bruce E. Mitchell.  Stipulation is signed and filed this date.

* * *

The Court grants Final Approval of the Settlement and Settlement Class.  The Court concludes that the Settlement is fair, adequate, and reasonable to the class.  Plaintiff’s counsel is to prepare, serve and submit a proposed formal order.

* * *

ATTORNEYS’ FEES AND COSTS: The Court will not make any partial fee awards until the total amounts can be computed.  Cost awards may be appropriate now, but not all firms have yet requested costs.

* * *

(Exhibit 2.)


Shortly after the fairness hearing, Commissioner Mitchell signed a stipulated order for entry of judgment on the settlement.  That stipulated order unequivocally states that “ ‘[t]he Court shall retain jurisdiction over this matter to effectuate this Judgment, to supervise and approve the claims administration process, and to enforce the terms of the Stipulation.’ ”  (Fine v. Superior Court, supra, 97 Cal.App.4th at p. 656.)


Retired Supreme Court Justice David Eagleson was appointed to oversee the claims process.  The deadline to file claims was set as July 26, 1999, and Justice Eagleson was to file a claims status report by July 30, 1999.


On July 2, 1999, respondent filed a motion for reconsideration of Commissioner Mitchell’s denial of respondent’s motion for partial distribution of attorney’s fees and an ex parte application for an expedited hearing on the motion (i.e., the motion for reconsideration).  (Exhibit 3.)  On July 9, 1999, at an expedited hearing on respondent’s motion for reconsideration, Commissioner Mitchell authorized a partial distribution of $450,000 in attorney’s fees to respondent.


On July 22, 1999, dissatisfied with the $450,000 partial distribution, respondent filed a second motion for partial distribution of attorney’s fees, which also included an ex parte application for an expedited hearing on the motion.  This July 22 motion did not specify the dollar amount of requested partial distribution.  (Exhibit 4.)  At an expedited hearing on August 2, 1999, Commissioner Mitchell deferred ruling on respondent’s second motion and continued it to October 4, 1999.  The superior court minutes of the August 2 expedited hearing state, among other things, that “It is stipulated by counsel that this matter may be heard by Commissioner Bruce E. Mitchell.  Stipulation is signed and filed this date.”  (Exhibit 5.)


On August 5, 1999, respondent filed yet a third motion for partial distribution of attorney’s fees.  In this third motion, respondent sought a distribution of an additional $900,000 in attorney’s fees.  (Exhibit 6.)  Respondent filed three separate ex parte applications for an expedited hearing on this third motion.  In one of those ex parte applications, respondent increased the requested distribution from $900,000 to $1.25 million.


Commissioner Mitchell denied all three of respondent’s ex parte applications for an expedited hearing on respondent’s third motion for partial distribution.  In short, Commissioner Mitchell refused to consider respondent’s third motion for partial distribution before the October 4, 1999, scheduled hearing on respondent’s second motion for partial distribution.



2.  Requests for sanctions against respondent.

Counsel for the other class members sought sanctions against respondent for repeatedly filing motions for partial distribution of attorney’s fees and ex parte applications for expedited hearings on those motions.  At a hearing on September 17, 1999, Commissioner Mitchell granted the motion for sanctions against respondent.


At the October 4, 1999, hearing, Commissioner Mitchell approved an additional partial distribution of attorney’s fees to respondent in the amount of $168,750, but ordered respondent not to file any more motions for distribution of attorney's fees before January 10, 2000.  At that same hearing, Commissioner Mitchell also vacated his September 17, 1999, sanction order against respondent because the motion for sanctions had not been properly noticed.  (Exhibit 14.)


On October 5, 1999, respondent lodged, with the superior court, a proposed order that he drafted for Commissioner Mitchell authorizing the partial distribution of an additional $168,750 attorney’s fees to respondent.5  Commissioner Mitchell signed and filed that proposed order on October 13, 1999.  (Exhibit 15.)


Next, the other plaintiffs’ counsel renewed their motion for sanctions against respondent and set it for a hearing on November 15, 1999.  However, on November 15, 1999, respondent filed a “notice of non consent to commissioner to hear motion for sanctions . . . .”   (Exhibit 16.)  In that notice, respondent asserted that Commissioner Mitchell could not properly hear the “renewed” motion for sanctions against respondent because Commissioner Mitchell had allegedly failed to rule on respondent’s motions for partial distribution of attorney’s fees within 90 days after they were purportedly taken under submission.  In that notice, respondent did not challenge Commissioner Mitchell’s stipulated authority to retain jurisdiction in DiFlores to effectuate the stipulated judgment, to oversee the claims administration process, and to enforce the settlement.  Nor did respondent challenge Commissioner Mitchell for cause under Code of Civil Procedure section 170.3 (e.g., for bias, prejudice, etc.).


At the November 15, 1999, hearing, Commissioner Mitchell struck respondent’s notice of nonconsent because it was meritless on its face.  (Cf. Code Civ. Proc., § 170.4, subd. (b).)  Commissioner Mitchell also took the “renewed” motion for sanctions against respondent off calendar and directed the moving “Counsel to re-file [the] motion utilizing the most appropriate code section and local rules.”6  Commissioner Mitchell also issued an order to show cause (hereafter “OSC”) in which he ordered respondent to show cause why respondent should not be removed as liability class counsel and directed respondent to file, no later than November 22, 1999, a list of each case in which he (i.e., respondent) has been sanctioned since the class certification in DiFlores.  The OSC was set for a hearing on December 14, 1999.  (Exhibit 17.)



3.  Challenges against Commissioner Mitchell for cause.

After Commissioner Mitchell started making rulings against respondent (or rulings with which respondent disagreed), respondent started attacking Commissioner Mitchell by filing statements of disqualification against him under Code of Civil Procedure section 170.3 (disqualification of judge because of bias, prejudice, etc.).  In fact, respondent filed at least 12 such section 170.3 challenges against Commissioner Mitchell in the DiFlores case alone.7

Respondent filed his first section 170.3 challenge against Commissioner Mitchell in the DiFlores case on November 24, 1999.  (Exhibit 18.)  In his first challenge, respondent alleged that “Commissioner Bruce E. Mitchell is disqualified to preside at any further proceedings in [DiFlores] other than the approval of Justice Eagleson’s Report on the awarding of claims . . . on the ground that [Commissioner Mitchell] is biased against [respondent] in violation of CCP 170.1(a)(6) and has become so ‘personally embroiled’ with [respondent] as to destroy his capacity for impartiality.”


On December 3, 1999, Commissioner Mitchell filed a detailed, verified answer to respondent’s first challenge.  (Exhibit 19.)  In his answer, the commissioner denied respondent’s allegations of bias and embroilment.  


Because respondent filed a challenge against him, Commissioner Mitchell had to vacate virtually all the pending hearings and various other court events in the DiFlores case.  (Exhibit 20.)  (Code Civ. Proc., § 170.4, subd. (a)(1).)


The Judicial Council assigned Judge Ronald Christianson of the San Bernardino Superior Court to decide the question of Commissioner Mitchell’s disqualification under respondent’s first challenge.  In a ruling filed on January 7, 2000, Judge Christianson held that Commissioner Mitchell was not disqualified from presiding over the DiFlores case.  (Exhibit 21.)  In his ruling, Judge Christianson found that, even though Commissioner Mitchell’s critique of respondent’s legal services as liability class counsel in DiFlores had “been harsh and the measures taken severe, it has not been established that his actions were based on any improper motive.  Certainly at some point a judge’s frustration with the conduct of an attorney might rise to the level of personal embroilment.  However, taking the actions in this case within their appropriate context, neither personal bias nor embroilment have been established.”  Furthermore, Judge Christianson found that “A person aware of the facts would not reasonably entertain a doubt as to Commissioner Mitchell’s ability to be impartial.”


Once Judge Christianson denied respondent’s first challenge, Commissioner Mitchell was able to reset certain matters on calendar in the DiFlores case.  One of the matters he reset was the OSC regarding respondent’s removal as liability class counsel.  (Exhibit 22.)  


At a February 22, 2000, hearing on an OSC that had been issued in the DiFlores case, Commissioner Mitchell removed respondent as liability class counsel for cause and sanctioned respondent $5,396 for repeatedly filing motions for partial distributions of attorney’s fees and repeatedly filing ex parte applications for expedited hearings on those motions.  That same day, Commissioner Mitchell filed a formal order imposing the $5,396 sanctions (hereafter “the February 22, 2000, sanction order”).  (Exhibit 24.)  Then, on March 6, 2000, he filed a formal order removing respondent as class counsel (hereafter “the March 6, 2000, removal order”).  (Exhibit 25.)  Under the March 6, 2000, removal order, respondent retained, as clients, the 19 named plaintiffs and a few other plaintiffs class members who elected to retain him on their own.


On April 28, 2000, on behalf of the plaintiffs, respondent filed an appeal of Commissioner Mitchell’s February 22, 2000, sanction order and March 6, 2000, removal order.  (Exhibit 26.)


On May 30, 2000, Commissioner Mitchell ordered respondent not to communicate with class members and to turn over a client mailing list for the liability class members he formerly represented as class counsel.  Commissioner Mitchell also ordered respondent not to do several other acts regarding the class.  (Exhibit 28.)


On June 1, 2000, respondent filed, in the Court of Appeal, a petition for a writ of supersedeas seeking a stay of various orders that Commissioner Mitchell made in the DiFlores case between March and May of 2000.8  (Exhibit 30.)


Then, on June 5, 2000, respondent filed his second section 170.3 challenge against Commissioner Mitchell in DiFlores.9  (Exhibit 29.)  In his second challenge, respondent alleged that the commissioner was disqualified on “the grounds that he is biased against plaintiffs and [respondent] in violation of CCP § 170.1(a)(6)(C) in that he has interfered with the attorney client relationship and has violated due process.”


On June 6, 2000, the Court of Appeal granted respondent’s petition for a writ of supersedeas on the condition that the parties file their appellate briefs by certain specified dates and set the appeal for oral argument on September 28, 2000.  This June 6, 2000, order stayed virtually all the proceedings in DiFlores pending the Court of Appeal’s determination of respondent’s appeal of the February 22, 2000, sanction order and the March 6, 2000, removal order.


On June 12, 2000, Commissioner Mitchell filed an order striking respondent’s second section 170.3 challenge and, in the alternative, a verified answer denying all of respondent’s allegations against him.  Commissioner Mitchell properly struck respondent’s second challenge because it was meritless on its face (Code. Civ. Proc., § 170.4, subd. (b)) and improperly duplicative of his first challenge, which Judge Christianson denied on January 7, 2000 (Code. Civ. Proc., § 170.4, subd. (c)(3)).  (Exhibit 32.)


In an unpublished opinion filed on October 17, 2000, the Court of Appeal (1) dismissed for lack of jurisdiction respondent’s appeal of the February 22, 2000, sanction order and the March 6, 2000, removal order and (2) discharged its June 6, 2000, writ of supersedeas staying the proceedings in DiFlores.  (Exhibit 33; Fine v. Superior Court, supra, 97 Cal.App.4th at p. 657.)  In that opinion, which was written by Justice Kathryn Doi Todd with Acting Presiding Justice Michael G. Nott and Justice Candace D. Cooper concurring, the Court of Appeal stated:

We, note, however, from a careful review of the record that were we to reach the merits of [respondent’s claims], we would conclude that the trial court [i.e., Commissioner Mitchell] possessed the authority to do so [citation] and that the reasons for doing so, as set forth in the trial court’s lengthy March 6, 2000 order, amply supported its exercise of discretion [to remove respondent as class counsel].


Of course, once the Court of Appeal discharged its writ of supersedeas on October 17, 2000, Commissioner Mitchell was immediately able to resume all the proceedings in DiFlores.  But, on October 27, 2000, respondent filed a third section 170.3 challenge against Commissioner Mitchell in the DiFlores case.  (Exhibit 34.)  On November 2, 2000, Commissioner Mitchell struck respondent’s third challenge and, in the alternative, filed a verified answer denying all of respondent’s allegations against him.  (Exhibit 35).


On December 1, 2000, at a status conference in the DiFlores matter, Commissioner Mitchell admonished respondent for appearing on behalf of the liability class members that respondent no longer represented by reason of the March 6, 2000, removal order.  Not surprisingly, respondent argued that the March 6, 2000, removal order was still stayed because he was appealing the Court of Appeal’s October 17, 2000, dismissal of his appeal.  In addition, he argued that Commissioner Mitchell’s comment regarding respondent’s appearance for clients he no longer represented was an order removing him as liability class counsel in DiFlores (hereafter “alleged December 1, 2000, removal order”).  Of course, both of respondent’s arguments were meritless.  (See discussion below.)


On December 7, 2000, respondent filed a fourth section 170.3 challenge to Commissioner Mitchell.  (Exhibit 36.)   On December 13, 2000, Commissioner Mitchell struck respondent’s fourth challenge and, in the alternative, filed a verified answer denying all of respondent’s allegations against him.  (Exhibit 37.)


After Commissioner Mitchell issued further orders with which he disagreed, respondent filed a fifth section 170.3 challenge to Commissioner Mitchell on December 18, 2000.  (Exhibit 39.)  On December 26, 2000, Commissioner Mitchell struck respondent’s fifth challenge and, in the alternative, filed a verified answer denying all of respondent’s allegations against him.  (Exhibit 40.)  


After another order by Commissioner Mitchell, respondent filed a sixth section 170.3 challenge against Commissioner Mitchell on January 5, 2001.  (Exhibit 42.)  On January 16, 2001, Commissioner Mitchell struck that sixth challenge and, in the alternative, filed a verified answer denying all of respondent’s allegations against him.  (Exhibit 43.)


On January 30, 2001, respondent filed an appeal of the alleged December 1, 2000, removal order.  (Exhibit 44.)


After other notices or orders by Commissioner Mitchell were sent to the class members, respondent filed his seventh section 170.3 challenge against Commissioner Mitchell on May 1, 2001.  (Exhibit 45.)  On May 10, 2001, Commissioner Mitchell struck this seventh challenge and, in the alternative, filed a verified answer denying all of respondent’s allegations, just as he had repeatedly done before.  (Exhibit 46.)


After Commissioner Mitchell advised respondent that he was treating respondent’s appeal of the alleged December 1, 2000, removal order as a “sham” (exhibit 47 at page 20, lines 27-28), respondent promptly filed his eighth section 170.3 challenge against Commissioner Mitchell on June 18, 2001.  (Exhibit 48.)  On June 25, 2001, Commissioner Mitchell struck this challenge and answered it in the alternative.  (Exhibit 49.)10

On August 30, 2001, respondent filed a ninth section 170.3 challenge against Commissioner Mitchell in the DiFlores case, which the commissioner struck and answered in the alternative on September 5, 2001.  (Exhibits 50 & 51.)  Then, on September 24, 2001, Commissioner Mitchell filed an order holding respondent in contempt for filing this ninth 170.3 challenge and sentenced respondent to five days in jail beginning on October 2, 2001.  (Exhibit 52.)  In the September 24, 2001, contempt order, Commissioner Mitchell found (1) that respondent’s ninth challenge contained six false, insulting, and scandalous allegations accusing Commissioner Mitchell of judicial misconduct and (2) that respondent’s ninth challenge was the last act in a two-year pattern of filing false and meritless challenges against Commissioner Mitchell that disrupted the judicial proceedings in DiFlores (Code Civ. Proc., § 1209, subd. (a)1,2).11

On October 2, 2001, respondent filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the Court of Appeal in which he sought to have the September 24, 2001, contempt order annulled.  Later that same day, the Court of Appeal filed an order in which it temporarily stayed the September 24, 2001, contempt order so that respondent would not be incarcerated before it could rule on his petition for writ of habeas corpus.  (Exhibit 54.)


On October 3, 2001, Commissioner Mitchell removed respondent as custodian of the class member files, and ordered him to turn over all the files to another plaintiff’s counsel, Diane Goldman, by October 31, 2001.  (Exhibit 55.)  This order was reduced to writing and was filed on October 24, 2001.  (Exhibit 56.)


Then, on November 9, 2001, respondent filed, in the Court of Appeal, a motion to stay the proceedings in DiFlores until after that court could rule on his writ of habeas corpus.  On November 21, 2001, the Court of Appeal granted respondent’s motion and stayed the proceedings in DiFlores pending further order of that court.  (Exhibit 59.)


On February 14, 2002, in an unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeal dismissed respondent’s January 31, 2001, appeal of the alleged December 1, 2000, removal order.  (Exhibit 60.)   That opinion was written by Justice Kathryn Doi Todd, with Presiding Justice Roger W. Boren and Justice Judith Ashmann-Gerst concurring.  In its opinion, the Court of Appeal held that respondent’s appeal was without merit because Commissioner Mitchell never made an order on December 1, 2000, removing respondent as class counsel.  Clearly, respondent had already been removed as class counsel under the March 6, 2000, removal order.  In sum, the Court of Appeal concluded that respondent’s appeal of a nonexistent December 1, 2000, removal order was an improper attempt to re-litigate the March 6, 2000, removal order, which it noted was final.


Then, on March 14, 2002, the Court of Appeal filed its opinion in Fine v. Superior Court, supra, 97 Cal.App.4th 651, which written by Presiding Justice Roger W. Boren, with Justices Michael G. Nott and Kathryn Doi Todd concurring.  (Exhibit 61.)  In Fine v. Superior Court, the Court of Appeal denied respondent’s October 2, 2001, habeas corpus petition in which he sought to have Commissioner Mitchell’s September 24, 2001, contempt order annulled.

  
Significantly, the Court of Appeal held in Fine v. Superior Court that Commissioner Mitchell clearly had and continued to have jurisdiction in the DiFlores case to effectuate the stipulated judgment, to supervise and approve the claims administration process, to enforce the settlement agreement, and to file the September 24, 2001, contempt order.  (Fine v. Superior Court, supra, 97 Cal.App.4th at p. 664.)  In addition, the Court of Appeal reviewed each of respondent’s first nine challenges against Commissioner Mitchell and determined that they were meritless.  (Id. at p. 674.)


The Court of Appeal also held (1) that respondent’s ninth challenge contained six false allegations of misconduct against Commissioner Mitchell; (2) that respondent could be held in contempt and punished for all but one of the six false allegations; (3) that the record supported the inference that respondent filed his ninth challenge for the improper purpose of delay; and (4) that Commissioner Mitchell’s sentence of five days’ incarceration (which was the maximum period of incarceration that he could impose) was appropriate.  (Fine v. Superior Court, supra, 97 Cal.App.4th at pp. 673-674.)  Finally, the Court of Appeal vacated the stays that it filed on October 2, 2001, and November 21, 2001, and instructed Commissioner Mitchell to proceed immediately with the claims adjudication process in the case.  (Id. at p. 674.)12

On May 2, 2002, respondent filed his tenth 170.3 challenge to Commissioner Mitchell in the DiFlores case, which the commissioner struck and answered in the alternative on May 7, 2002.  (Exhibits 63 & 64.)
  


On May 24, 2002, Commissioner Mitchell issued an OSC requiring respondent to show cause why he should not be disqualified and removed from representing any claimant (i.e., plaintiff) in the DiFlores case.  The OSC and its supporting documents consists of 227 pages.  (Exhibit 65.)  The OSC was set for a hearing on June 28, 2002.


On June 18, 2002, respondent filed his eleventh 170.3 challenge to Commissioner Mitchell in the DiFlores case, which the commissioner struck and answered in the alternative on June 26, 2002.  (Exhibits 66 & 67.)


On June 28, 2002, respondent filed a pleading entitled “Response to Unlawful OSC as Commissioner Bruce E. Mitchell Having Already Been Disqualified on May 2, 2002 And Other Reasons.”  (Exhibit 68.)   Just like he did in his 170.3 challenges, respondent made several derogatory statements about Commissioner Mitchell in that response.  Those derogatory statements included the following:

Under Commissioner Mitchell’s judicial system, lawyers cannot contact opposing counsel, and witnesses are judges.  If Commissioner Mitchell were not serious, the idea might make good comedic farce.



(Exhibit 68 at page 3.)

Commissioner Mitchell is abusing the judicial process to advance a personal vendetta against Fine which he has been carrying out since early 1999.



(Exhibit 68 at page 5.)

Commissioner Mitchell had a “good run” for his propaganda.  He has spread “venom” in court papers from the summer of 1999 through the present.  He used settlement fund monies to fund the vendetta, hire “ethics counsel”, private judges to interview Fine’s clients, private detectives to harass Fine’s family, and to send the papers across the country with the purpose of destroying Fine’s reputation and livelihood.  



(Exhibit 68 at pages 5-6.)

Commissioner Mitchell has demonstrated . . . that settlement fund monies can be spent on anything irrespective of the restrictions of the Settlement Agreement, that “vengeance” is the lifeblood of the “bench”, and that a judge or commissioner accepting monies from a party in a lawsuit and not disclosing such to the other party is acceptable amongst other things.  (Exhibit 68 at page 11.)


In addition, respondent asserted that Commissioner Mitchell prepared an order that  “contained untruthful allegations” (exhibit 68 at page 6) and also claimed that Court of Appeal Justices Todd, Boren, and Nott concealed allegedly improper payments that the County of Los Angeles had made to all the Los Angeles Superior Court judges (exhibit 68 at page 7).  Some of the above comments were repeated under penalty of perjury in an attached declaration executed by respondent.  (See Exhibit 68 at pages 12-21.)  


The June 28, 2002, hearing on the OSC was continued until July 15, 2002, apparently in light of respondent’s pending eleventh 170.3 challenge.  (Exhibit 69.)  After that July 15, 2002, hearing on the OSC, Commissioner Mitchell filed a 52-page order (which is supported by another 100 pages of exhibits) on August 21, 2002.  In that August 21, 2002, order, Commissioner Mitchell removed respondent as counsel for the plaintiffs that he then represented in the DiFlores case and barred respondent from representing any plaintiff in DiFlores in the future (hereafter “August 21, 2002, removal order”).  Commissioner Mitchell’s findings in the August 21, 2002, removal order included, among other things, the following:

The Court concludes that Fine cannot be trusted as a fiduciary for any class members:  He will not follow the law, he will not tell the truth, and he will not obey court orders.

* * *

Fine has shown he is oblivious to lesser discipline.  His misconduct has continued for 2½ years despite numerous warnings from the court, and despite over $40,000 in monetary sanctions imposed, a jail sentence imposed, and the denial of every petition and appeal Fine has filed in the appellate courts in this case.  When discipline is imposed upon Fine, he retaliates with personal attacks against the jurists whether they sit on the trial court or the Court of Appeal.  Fine simply will not learn. 

(Exhibit 70, page 51.)13

On October 18, 2002, respondent appealed the August 21, 2002, removal order.  (Exhibit 72.)  Then, on October 30, 2002, after Commissioner Mitchell issued further orders involving respondent, respondent filed a twelfth 170.3 challenge against Commissioner Mitchell in the DiFlores case, which the commissioner struck and answered in the alternative on November 7, 2002.  (Exhibits 71 & 73.)



4.  Judge Czuleger’s OSC re: contempt.

On May 5, 2003, Commissioner Mitchell filed a declaration in support of an order to show cause regarding whether respondent should be held in contempt for filing his twelfth 170.3 challenge against Commissioner Mitchell in DiFlores.  (Exhibit 77.)  On May 21, 2003, after reviewing that declaration, Los Angeles Superior Court Judge J. Stephen Czuleger filed an OSC, ordering respondent to appear at a hearing before him and show cause why he should not hold respondent in contempt for filing his twelfth 170.3 challenge (hereafter “Judge Czuleger’s OSC”).  (Exhibit 78.)


Respondent appeared at the hearing on Judge Czuleger’s OSC.  On September 29, 2003, after considering the testimony and documentary evidence presented at that hearing, Judge Czuleger filed an order and judgment of contempt against respondent.  In that contempt judgment, Judge Czuleger sentenced respondent to three days’ in jail and ordered respondent to pay a $1,000 fine.  That contempt judgment is final,14 and respondent has served his three-day jail sentence.


Judge Czuleger’s findings in that contempt judgment were made under the beyond a reasonable doubt standard of proof – which, of course, is a higher standard than the clear and convincing standard applicable in attorney disciplinary proceedings.  In the contempt judgment, Judge Czuleger stated:

Here, the evidence establishes, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Mr. Fine’s declaration in support of his twelfth disqualification motion against Commissioner Mitchell (1) contained false statements which were made with knowledge of their falsity or a disregard for their truth; and (2) impugned the integrity of Commissioner Mitchell without factual basis.

Specifically, Judge Czuleger found that respondent made the following six false statements with either actual knowledge of their falsity or disregard for their truth.


First, respondent falsely stated that Commissioner Mitchell continued to act as a judicial officer presiding over the DiFlores case when he was without jurisdiction to do so.  Second, respondent falsely stated that Commissioner Mitchell conceded that he never had jurisdiction or authority to act in the DiFlores case.  Third, respondent falsely stated that he represented some of the plaintiffs in the DiFlores case even though he knew that he had been removed as counsel for all plaintiffs under the August 21, 2002, removal order and that the August 21, 2002, removal order had not yet been stayed by the Court of Appeal.


Fourth, respondent falsely stated that Commissioner Mitchell violated an appellate stay by directing that an updated master service list of all parties be sent out in the DiFlores case.  Fifth, respondent falsely stated that, on October 15, 2002, Commissioner Mitchell caused a notice to be sent to respondent’s clients requiring them to reselect counsel or be placed in pro per status.  Sixth, respondent falsely stated that Commissioner Mitchell was disqualified because of a procedural ruling the commissioner made with respect to the September 24, 2001, contempt order.


In addition to those six findings, Judge Czuleger also found that respondent’s conduct established a pattern of filing frivolous challenges, which respondent continued even though he had been repeatedly warned that his conduct was improper by multiple Superior Court Judges and Court of Appeal Justices.  Further, Judge Czuleger found, beyond a reasonable doubt, that respondent filed his twelfth challenge against Commissioner Mitchell “for the improper purposes of removing a duly assigned judicial officer with just cause (i.e., “judge shopping”) and delaying the proceeding.”


This court finds that it is appropriate to apply principles of collateral estoppel to give each of Judge Czuleger’s findings preclusive effect in this proceeding.  (In the Matter of Kittrell (Review Dept. 2000) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 195, 205; In the Matter of Torres (Review Dept. 2000) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 138, 146.)  Accordingly, each of Judge Czuleger’s findings is  conclusively established in the present disciplinary proceeding.


In August 2006, three years after Judge Czuleger filed his contempt judgment, respondent filed yet another frivolous and meritless section 170.3 challenge, this time against both Commissioner Mitchell and Judge Czuleger.  (Exhibit 178.)  Commissioner Mitchell responded as he had before.  (Exhibit 179.)  However, Judge Czuleger did not file a similar response.  Thereafter, some three years later, respondent improperly argued that Judge Czuleger’s failure to file a response rendered void the contempt judgment he filed against respondent.  (Exhibit 180.)

5.  Challenges of Court of Appeal Justices for cause.

On December 6, 2002, after he learned that his appeal of the August 21, 2002, removal order was assigned to Division 2 of the Second District Court of Appeal, which included Justices Boren, Nott, Todd, and Ashmann-Gerst, respondent filed a letter addressed to those four justices claiming that they were biased and prejudiced against him.  In that letter, respondent stated the following:

The Justices of Division 2 did not have any reason for their [refusal to reverse their published opinion Fine v. Superior Court, supra, 97 Cal.App.4th 651] other than to abuse the legal process and use it to place a false decision before the public to impair and ruin Fine’s ability to earn a living by falsely stating to the public each day that he was guilty of contempt when such was not true.

(Exhibit 74, page 2.)


The four Court of Appeal Justices construed respondent’s letter as a request that the justices disqualify themselves and then denied it in an order filed on December 17, 2002.  (Exhibit 75.)   Despite this order, respondent mailed another letter dated April 8, 2003, to the Court of Appeal, claiming that the counsel representing Commissioner Mitchell should be disqualified and, at least by implication, seeking again to disqualify Justices Boren, Nott and Todd.  (Exhibit 76.)   In this letter at page 2, respondent improperly claimed that a statement made in a brief that was filed on behalf of the four Justices in respondent’s appeal of a federal district court order dismissing the Silva case (which is discussed below) established that the four Justices were not impartial and were disqualified.


On July 25, 2003, respondent filed a formal motion to disqualify Justices Boren, Nott, and Todd for an alleged conflict of interest.  (Exhibit 80.)  On August 15, 2003, the court denied that motion.  (Exhibit 81.)  Thereafter, on September 16, 2003, respondent filed a letter with the Court of Appeal, denominated:

Courtesy Notice That Suit Will Be Filed in Federal Court Against Justices Boren, Nott and Todd for Violation of Fine’s Civil Rights and Seeking Injunctive Relief to Order Them Removed from These Appeals and to Strike the Decision of Fine v. Superior Court (2002) 97 Cal.App.4th 651.


Thereafter, on October 14, 2003, respondent filed, in federal district court, a civil rights lawsuit against individually Court of Appeal Justices Boren, Nott, Todd; Joseph A. Lane (the Clerk of the Court of Appeal); Judge Czuleger; Superior Court Judge Robert W. Dukes; Commissioner Mitchell; and John A. Clark (the Clerk of the Los Angeles County Superior Court).  This lawsuit is the Mitchell federal court actions, which is discussed in detail below.

 Culpability Findings Count 1 through 5

Count 1 – filing 12 meritless challenges.   


In count 1, the State Bar charges that respondent engaged in acts involving moral turpitude in willful violation of section 6106 by filing 12 meritless section 170.3 challenges against Commissioner Mitchell in the DiFlores case.  Section 6106 proscribes attorney acts involving moral turpitude, dishonesty, or corruption.  


An attorney’s deliberate and repeated disregard of his duties to adhere to the requirements of the law and to fulfill his obligations as an officer of the court involves moral turpitude.  (Cf. In the Matter of Maloney and Virsik (Review Dept. 2005) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 774, 786; In the Matter of Kittrell (Review Dept. 2000) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 195, 208.)  “Conduct which indicates that an attorney is unable to meet the professional and fiduciary duties of his practice may show him or her to be unfit to practice and constitute moral turpitude.  [Citation.]”  (In re Strick (1983) 34 Cal.3d 891, 901.)  


The record in this proceeding clearly establishes that respondent deliberately engaged in a pattern of filing frivolous challenges against Commissioner Mitchell in the DiFlores case with respondent filing his twelfth challenge for the improper purposes of attempting to remove a duly assigned judicial officer without any plausible just cause and to improperly delay the proceeding.


Further, even without giving Judge Czuleger’s findings preclusive effect in this proceeding, respondent’s section 170.3 challenges collectively clearly and independently establish that respondent deliberately and repeatedly disregarded his duties to adhere to the requirements of the law and to fulfill his obligations as an officer of the court when he filed the twelve challenges.


In this court, respondent testified that, at all times relevant to the charges in this proceeding, he acted with “total integrity” with “no intent to delay, harass or harm” anyone.  This court rejects respondent’s testimony.  It not only lacks credibility, it is implausible.  His contemptuous and improper behavior in the DiFlores matter is clear from the facts.  After Commissioner Mitchell denied him the relief and financial benefits he felt he deserved in the DiFlores case and after the commissioner sought to sanction respondent for his inappropriate efforts to obtain advances on his attorney’s fees out of the settlement proceeds in DiFlores, respondent embarked on a litigation rampage against Commissioner Mitchell.  In so doing, respondent deliberately breached the fiduciary duties he owes to his clients and the professional duties he owes to the court and thereby engaged in acts of moral turpitude in willful violation of section 6106.


Respondent repeatedly filed frivolous challenges against Commissioner Mitchell, not in some well-meaning but misguided attempt to protect a valid legal right or to zealously represent his clients’ interests.  Rather he did so in an effort to secure personal financial gain.  In addition, he sought to exact revenge out of spite and to harass Commissioner Mitchell in an attempt to coerce or intimidate the commissioner into ruling in his favor.  This misconduct seriously impacted the administration of justice by delaying the proceedings in the DiFlores case and by wasting scarce judicial resources.


In sum, the court finds that the record establishes, by clear and convincing evidence, that respondent willfully violated section 6106 as charged in count 1 when he filed 12 challenges against Commissioner Mitchell out of revenge, to harass and intimidate Commissioner Mitchell into ruling in his favor, and to delay the proceedings.



Counts 2 & 4 – false accusation of misappropriation.

In counts 2 and 4, the State Bar charges respondent with engaging in acts of moral turpitude by falsely stating, in his seventh section 170.3 challenge (exhibit 45), that Commissioner Mitchell “misappropriated Settlement fund monies” in the DiFlores case.


“Rules of professional conduct ‘that prohibit false statements impugning the integrity of judges . . .  are not designed to shield judges from unpleasant or offensive criticism. . . .’ ”  (In the Matter of Anderson (Review Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 775, 782, quoting  Standing Committee v. Yagman (9th Cir. 1995) 55 F.3d 1430, 1437.)  Thus, the State Bar Court cannot discipline an attorney for making a statement that attacks or impugns the honesty, motivation, integrity, or competence of a judicial officer (or other court official) unless (1) the statement is a false statement of fact (as opposed to opinion) and (2) the attorney made the false statement knowing it was false or with reckless disregard for the truth.  (In the Matter of Anderson, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at pp. 781-783.)  Moreover, the State Bar must affirmatively prove, by clear and convincing evidence, the statement’s falsity.  (Id. at p. 785.)  


Offensive and impugning “Statements that are not capable of being proved true or false [e.g., rhetorical hyperbole] cannot support the imposition of discipline.  Likewise, statements of opinion are not disciplinable unless they imply or are based upon a false assertion of fact.”  (In the Matter of Anderson, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 786.)


When an individual states an opinion or conclusion and discloses the factual basis for that opinion or conclusion, then the stated opinion or conclusion “ ‘can only be read as the author’s personal conclusion about the information presented, not as a statement of fact.’ ” ( Franklin v. Dynamic Details, Inc. (2004) 116 Cal.App.4th 375, 387.)  That is because any unfounded, unjustified, or unreasonable opinion or conclusion will reveal its own lack of merit when the author discloses the factual basis for the opinion or conclusion.  Thus, an attorney cannot be disciplined for offensive and impugning statements of opinions or conclusions (even if they accuse a judicial officer of criminal activity) if the underlying facts are disclosed and are true.  (Standing Committee v. Yagman, supra, 55 F.3d at pp. 1439-1430; Franklin v. Dynamic Details, Inc., supra, 116 Cal.App.4th at p. 388.)  This is true regardless of how reckless or outrageous the opinion or conclusion might be.


Admittedly, respondent’s statement that Commissioner Mitchell misappropriated15 settlement fund monies is derogatory and impugns the commissioner’s integrity.  In addition, it appears that respondent made the statement with reckless disregard for the truth.  The State Bar, however, failed to carry its burden to affirmatively prove, by clear and convincing evidence, that the statement is false.16  Moreover, the State Bar failed to establish that the statement is an opinion or conclusion that is based upon a false assertion of fact.  Accordingly, even though this court is confident that Commissioner Mitchell did not misappropriate any settlement monies in these cases, this court must dismiss counts 2 and 4 with prejudice for want of proof.



Count 3 – Respondent’s frivolous tenth challenge.

In count 3, the State Bar charges that respondent engaged in an act involving moral turpitude when he filed his tenth section 170.3 challenge against Commissioner Mitchell in the DiFlores case.  Specifically, the State Bar charges that respondent’s tenth challenge is meritless and that it was filed for the purpose of harassing Commissioner Mitchell because, in it, respondent wrongfully claimed that the Lewin federal lawsuit compelled Commissioner Mitchell’s disqualification.  


Respondent’s frivolous theory of disqualification in this challenge was that Commissioner Mitchell, like all Los Angeles County judicial officers, improperly received a supplemental salary from the County of Los Angeles.  Commissioner Mitchell was not named in the Lewin federal lawsuit nor was he involved in it in any way, except to the extent that he was a judicial officer on the Los Angeles Superior Court with Judge Lewin.


Respondent’s filing of the tenth section 170.3 challenge on this attenuated theory was done to harass Commissioner Mitchell and to further delay the DiFlores proceeding.  On its face, this 170.3 challenge is frivolous.


In sum, the court finds that the record establishes, by clear and convincing evidence, that respondent willfully violated section 6106 as charged in count 3 by misstating that the Lewis federal lawsuit compelled Commissioner Mitchell’s disqualification and by filing his tenth section 170.3 challenge to harass Commissioner Mitchell.



Count 5 – Meritless appeal.

In count 5, the State Bar charges that respondent engaged in an act of moral turpitude when, on January 30, 2001, he filed an appeal with respect to the alleged December 1, 2000, removal order in the DiFlores case (exhibit 44).  As noted above, in its February 14, 2002, unpublished opinion (exhibit  60), the Court of Appeal held that respondent’s January 30, 2001, appeal was clearly meritless because Commissioner Mitchell never made an order on December 1, 2000, removing respondent as class counsel.  In addition, that court held that respondent’s appeal was nothing more than an improper attempt to re-litigate the respondent’s removal as class counsel under the then final March 6, 2000, removal order.


Because the Court of Appeal’s holdings were not made under the clear and convincing standard of proof applicable in attorney disciplinary proceeding, this court cannot give them preclusive effect in this proceeding under principles of collateral estoppel.  (In the Matter of Applicant A (Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 318, 329.)  Nonetheless, the record in the present disciplinary proceeding independently establishes the same holding/finding by clear and convincing evidence.  Accordingly, the State Bar has clearly established that, as charged in count 5, respondent engaged in an act of moral turpitude in willful violation of section 6106 when he filed his January 30, 2001, appeal seeking review of the nonexistent alleged December 1, 2000, removal order.


F.  Shinkle State Court Action


1.  Challenges against Commissioner Mitchell for cause.

Shinkle v. City of Los Angeles was a class action lawsuit that respondent filed in Los Angeles County Superior Court on July 31, 1996.  It arose out of a claim that the City of Los Angeles overcharged residents by making allegedly faulty calculations on their sewage bills.  (Exhibits 94 & 95.)  As in the DiFlores case, the focus of the State Bar’s charges does not rest upon the propriety of the court’s rulings in the Shinkle matter.  Again, the State Bar addresses the litigation tactics used by respondent in that case.


On February 27, 1998, a hearing was held in the Shinkle case in Commissioner Mitchell’s courtroom on a motion to certify the class.  While the court’s tentative ruling was to deny the motion, Commissioner Mitchell allowed respondent to recast his position as to the class to meet the court’s concerns.  (Exhibit 96.)  Respondent filed a supplemental motion for class certification on March 23, 1998.  (Exhibit 97.)  A hearing on the supplemental motion was held on July 22, 1999.  On July 22, 1999, Commissioner Mitchell denied the motion to certify the class and referred the case out of the class action department and back to a regular independent calendaring department in the Superior Court (hereafter “I. C. court”), where the case was assigned to Superior Court Judge David Horowitz.  (Exhibits 98 and 99.)


Respondent filed a motion for reconsideration on August 2, 1999 (Exhibit 100), which was also denied by Commissioner Mitchell in an order filed September 9, 1999.  (Exhibit 101; also see minute order dated September 14, 1999, Exhibit 103; and also Exhibit 104.)  


A motion for sanctions against respondent was brought by the City of Los Angeles on September 9, 1999.  (Exhibit 102.)  The grounds for this motion were (1) that respondent’s motion for reconsideration failed to comply with Code of Civil Procedure section 1008, in that the motion failed to produce any new facts, circumstances, or law and (2) that, in his motion for reconsideration,  respondent mischaracterized the evidence he attached to the motion for as well as the city’s position on the case.  The sanctions motion was set for November 1, 1999, in Commissioner Mitchell’s courtroom.  Respondent’s first words at that hearing, after making his appearance were: “We’re not submitting to the jurisdiction of the court.”  Respondent contended that the motion for sanctions should be heard by Judge Horowitz because the case was then assigned to him.  Commissioner Mitchell continued the hearing on the motion for sanctions until December 17, 1999, to allow both parties the chance to fully brief the matter and to allow respondent to review the city’s records it asserted justified the court awarding it the more than $25,000 in sanctions it sought from respondent.


However, on December 8, 1999, respondent filed a 170.3 challenge against Commissioner Mitchell in the Shinkle case, accusing Commissioner Mitchell of, among other things, becoming personally embroiled with respondent; falsifying court records in DiFlores; altering the docket sheet to reflect an earlier filing of court documents; and engaging in improper ex parte communications with counsel in the DiFlores case.  (Exhibit 106.)


At the December 17, 1999, hearing on the motion for sanctions, respondent again objected to the jurisdiction of Commissioner Mitchell’s court.  (Exhibit 107.)  In the end, respondent was ordered to pay the city $25,575 in sanctions.  (Exhibit 113.)  Also, on December 17, 1999, Commissioner Mitchell filed his response to respondent’s first 170.3 challenge.  (Exhibit 108.)


After Commissioner Mitchell filed his response, the challenge was assigned, along with others,17 to Judge Frederick P. Horn of the Orange County Superior Court, sitting by assignment in the Los Angeles County Superior Court.  On May 22, 2000, after noting that he had read all the papers presented,18 Judge Horn denied respondent’s challenges because “no reasonable person aware of the facts in this case would entertain a doubt as to Commissioner Mitchell’s ability to be impartial.”  (Exhibit 114, page 7.)


However, despite this unequivocal conclusion, Judge Horn’s May 22, 2000, order had typographical errors.  On page 4, Judge Horn stated the following:

In Shinkle, Commissioner Mitchell was not impartial when Mr. Fine submitted an opposition to the Motion for Sanctions on the day of the hearing.  Rather than invalidating [respondent’s] late filing, Commissioner Mitchell continued the Motion and required the defendant City of Los Angeles to produce time records for its outside counsel so that Mr. Fine could comment upon the reasonableness of the sanctions.  Further, Commissioner Mitchell was not impartial when he heard the Motion for Sanctions after he decided to deny the Motion to Reconsider the denial of class certification.  The Motion for Sanctions was a product of the Motion to Reconsider.  Jurisdiction had not been lost to the Independent Calendar Court on the issue of sanctions, since the Motion to Reconsider had been filed in Commissioner Mitchell’s court.

(Exhibit 114, page 4; emphasis added.)


These two typographical errors were pointed out to Judge Horn (and to respondent) in a notice filed by the City of Los Angeles approximately two weeks later, on June 5, 2000.19  (Exhibit 116.)


On June 5, 2000, respondent filed a second 170.3 challenge against Commissioner Mitchell in the Shinkle case.  (Exhibit 115.)  This is significant because, at that time, respondent knew that the case had already been transferred to Judge Horowitz and that Commissioner Mitchell’s last act as a bench officer in the Shinkle case was his ruling on the sanction order on December 17, 1999.


On June 8, 2000, respondent filed an opposition to the city’s notice of the typographical errors in Judge Horn’s order.  In that opposition, respondent contended that Judge Horn’s uses of the words “not impartial” were, in fact, not a typographical errors or mistakes.  (Exhibit 117.)  Respondent contended that Judge Horn “found impartiality in the Shinkle case, but still did not disqualify Commissioner Mitchell . . . .”  Respondent further asserted that “Whether this is a proper ruling will be decided by the Court of Appeal.”  (Exhibit 117, page 2.)


In fact, respondent did take the matter to the Court of Appeal when he filed a petition for writ of mandate on June 12, 2000.  In that June 12, 2000, petition, respondent attacked Judge Horn’s order denying respondent’s first challenge.  However, what respondent did not do is also significant; he failed to properly advise the Court of Appeal of the dispute as to the typographical error.  This is so despite the fact that he had received the city’s notice of the typographical errors and objected to it four days earlier on June 8, 2000.  (Exhibit 116)  Despite having knowledge of the errors, respondent quoted the statements set forth above containing the typographical errors to the Court of Appeal.  (Exhibit 120, page 15.)


In his June 12, 2000, petition for writ of mandate, respondent made the following misleading (if not patently false) statements to the Court of Appeal:

The Minute Order [of Judge Horn] has found that Commissioner Mitchell was “not impartial” in the Shinkle case, and had predecided the removal of Petitioner as class counsel in the De Flores case by confirming his “tentative ruling”, when a tentative ruling never existed.

The thrust of the Minute Order was that, although Commissioner Mitchell was found to be “biased” in two of the six cases, he should not be disqualified in any of the cases.

(Exhibit 120, page 19.)


In addition, respondent ended his petition with the following similarly misleading (if not false) statement:

The Minute Order [of Judge Horn], itself has found that Commissioner Mitchell was “not impartial” in the Shinkle case, and had predecided with the confirmation of his “tentative ruling” that Petitioner should be removed as class counsel in the De Flores case.

(Exhibit 120, page 23.)  Significantly, respondent deliberately concealed, from the Court of Appeal, Judge Horn’s unequivocal conclusion in the minute order that “no reasonable person aware of the facts in this case would entertain a doubt as to Commissioner Mitchell’s ability to be impartial.”



In his June 12, 2000, petition, respondent also argued that Commissioner Mitchell violated Code of Civil Procedure, section 170.4, subdivision (d) on December 17, 1999, when he ruled on the sanctions motion after respondent filed his first challenge against Commissioner Mitchell in the Shinkle case the week before.  (Exhibit 120, page 15.)  However, respondent specifically failed to cite to Code of Civil Procedure section 170.4, subdivision (c)(1), which authorized Commissioner Mitchell to rule on the motion even after respondent filed his challenge.20

Finally, respondent concluded in his petition by repeating the statement “The Minute Order, itself, has found that Commissioner Mitchell was ‘not impartial’ in the Shinkle case . . . .”  (Exhibit 120, page 123.)


Also on June 12, 2000, Commissioner Mitchell responded to respondent’s second 170.3 challenge, just as he had always done before, by striking it and answering it in the alternative.  (Exhibit 118.)  On June 23, 2000, respondent filed a petition for writ of mandate in the Court of Appeal (Exhibit 123) regarding Commissioner Mitchell’s order striking the second 170.3 challenge.  Respondent’s June 23, 2000, petition was summarily denied on July 6, 2000.  (Exhibit 126.)


On June 16, 2000, Judge Horn issued a correction to his earlier order, clarifying that he meant to say that Commissioner Mitchell was impartial.   He also issued a new order nunc pro tunc without the typographical errors.  (Exhibit 121.)


On June 20, 2000, the Court of Appeal summarily denied respondent’s June 12, 2000, petition for writ of mandate.  (Exhibit 122.)



2.  Efforts by the City of Los Angeles to collect sanctions.

Respondent did not timely pay the sanctions ordered by Commissioner Mitchell.  In order to collect the sanctions, the City of Los Angeles noticed a judgment debtor examination to occur on August 23, 2000.  On August 21, respondent filed a motion for a protective order to prevent the judgment debtor examination.  (Exhibit 129.)  On November 6, 2000, Judge Horowitz denied the protective order and ordered the examination to occur on December 14, 2000.  (See Exhibit 130.)  


On December 11, 2000, respondent filed a petition for writ of supersedeas or other appropriate stay order to prevent the judgment debtor examination.  (Exhibit 133.)  In this petition, respondent repeated his statement that Commissioner Mitchell was precluded from ruling on the sanctions motion on December 17, 1999, under section 170.4, subdivision (d) without disclosing that Commissioner Mitchell was authorized to rule on the motion under section 170.4, subdivision (c)(1).  On December 13, 2000, the Court of Appeal denied respondent’s December 11, 2000, petition for writ of supersedeas.  (Exhibit 135.)  



3.  Appeal of the Shinkle summary judgment.

On November 13, 2000, respondent filed an opening brief in an appeal of the trial court’s granting summary judgment in the Shinkle case.  (Exhibit 131.)  In fact, the time for appeal had passed.  On a motion brought by the City of Los Angeles on account of various procedural defects, the Court of Appeal struck the opening brief on December 13, 2000.  (Exhibit 134.)  Respondent filed an amended opening brief on December 27, 2000.  (Exhibit 136.)  Again, he failed to comply with the time limits for filing such an appeal.  Again, he raised the issue already decided by the Court of Appeal as to the jurisdiction of Commissioner Mitchell to hear the sanctions motion. 


The City of Los Angeles responded, and respondent replied.  (Exhibits 137 and 138, respectively.)  The Court of Appeal, in an opinion dated June 12, 2001 by Justice Nott with Justices Boren and Doi Todd concurring, affirmed the lower court’s judgment.  (Exhibit 139.)  Respondent filed a petition in the California Supreme Court seeking review, which was denied on September 12, 2001.  (Exhibit 141.) 



4.  Appeal of class certification order.      

 
As noted above, Respondent filed the Shinkle case as a class action.  After an adverse ruling by Commissioner Mitchell on class certification on July 22, 1999 (Exhibit 98, 99 and 101), respondent first filed a motion for reconsideration (Exhibit 100) (which was denied on September 14, 1999, Exhibit 103) and then he filed an appeal.  (Exhibits 131, filed on November 13, 2000; replaced by exhibit 136, filed on December 27, 2000.)  


The appeal was not timely filed.  Even if the first attempt at appeal on November 13, 2000, had tolled the time limits for filing the appeal, the appeal was still not timely.21
Culpability Findings Counts 6 through 13
Counts 6 & 10 – Meritless challenge & petition for writ of mandate

Counts 6 and 10 relate to respondent’s conduct in filing his second 170.3 challenge against Commissioner Mitchell in the Shinkle case on June 5, 2000, and in filing a petition for writ of mandate on June 12, 2000.  When he filed that challenge and that petition, respondent knew that Commissioner Mitchell was no longer the bench officer assigned to the Shinkle case.  At that time, respondent knew that the case had been transferred to Judge Horowitz on July 22, 1999, and that Commissioner Mitchell’s last ruling in the matter was on December 17, 1999, when he granted the motion for sanctions against respondent.


At trial in this State Bar Court disciplinary proceeding, respondent testified that he did not file those two pleadings for purposes of delay claiming that since the Shinkle case was actively being handled by Judge Horowitz no delay occurred.  This court rejects this meritless twist of the facts by respondent.  Respondent may not on the one hand, claim that Commissioner Mitchell was an appropriate target of a section 170.3 challenge, and then on the other hand, argue no delay occurred because the case had already been transferred to another judge.  In any event, the evidence clearly establishes that everything respondent did in filing his frivolous challenges and petitions was done to harass the targeted bench officers and to interfere with the prompt resolution of the cases.


With respect to counts 6 and 10, the State Bar has met its burden of proving, by clear and convincing evidence, that respondent engaged in acts of moral turpitude in willful violation of section 6106 when he filed, for the purposes of harassment and delay, his second 170.3 challenge against Commissioner Mitchell in the Shinkle case and his June 12, 2000, petition for writ of mandate when he knew that Commissioner Mitchell was no longer the assigned bench officer in that case.


Count 7 – Failure to cite controlling authority

As noted above, respondent filed a writ of mandate in the Shinkle case on June 12, 2000.  (Exhibit 120.)  In that writ, respondent stated that Commissioner Mitchell had improperly continued to hear and rule on the motions for sanctions after the matter had been transferred to the I. C. judge, Judge Horowitz.  Respondent also contended that Commissioner Mitchell violated Code of Civil Procedure section 170.4(d), which precludes a judge from acting in a proceeding until his or her disqualification has been determined, when he ruled on the sanctions motion on December 17, 1999.  


The record clearly establishes that respondent knew, when he filed his June 12, 2000, petition, that section 170, subdivision (c)(1) authorized Commissioner Mitchell to rule on the sanctions motion.  Moreover, respondent had “an unconditional and continuing duty to make full disclosure” to the Court of Appeal.  (In the Matter of Maloney and Virsik, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 791.)


Respondent deliberately violated that duty when he attempted to mislead the Court of Appeal by failing to disclose, to it, the applicability of section 170, subdivision (c)(1).  Without question, a deliberate breach of such a duty involves, at a minimum, moral turpitude.  (Cf. In the Matter of Kittrell, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 208.)  Accordingly, respondent is clearly culpable of willfully violating section 6106 by engaging in the misleading acts of moral turpitude charged in count 7.

Counts 8 & 9 – Misrepresentations regarding typographical errors

Counts 8 and 9 derive from essentially the same facts.  Both allege that respondent’s actions with respect to the typographical error in Judge Horn’s order constituted moral turpitude.  The only difference is that they refer to different paragraphs of the petition for writ of mandate.  


In reading Judge Horn’s order, there can be no reasonable confusion as to the fact that he had made a typographical error when he stated that Commissioner Mitchell was “not impartial.”  Moreover, this court has carefully reviewed respondent’s June 12, 2000, petition for writ of mandate (which, of course, includes the attached memorandum of points and authorities and prefatory statement) in its entirety.  When considered in the context in which they were made, it is clear that respondent’s that Judge Horn found that Commissioner Mitchell was “not impartial” are misleading if not patently false.  Respondent’s statements and arguments in his June 12, 2000, petition are not example of “sharp” lawyering.  Nor are they merely silly interpretations of Judge Horn’s order or simple sophistry.  The are deliberately misleading if not false statements of fact.


Given his knowledge at the time, both from his years of experience, and the notice given to him by the City Attorney, respondent had an unequivocal duty, first, to not initially make the argument, and second, after it was made and the problem was pointed out to him by opposing counsel and by Judge Horn’s modification, to correct the Court of Appeal’s record to reflect at least the possibility of the trial court’s confusion.  Instead, he did nothing, hoping that he could benefit from the trickery and the Court of Appeal would somehow miss the clear conclusion in the order and focus on his misstatements.  Respondent clearly breached his “unconditional and continuing duty to make full disclosure” to the Court of Appeal.  (In the Matter of Maloney and Virsik, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 791.)  Again, a deliberate breach of such a duty involves, at a minimum, moral turpitude.  (Cf. In the Matter of Kittrell, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 208.) 


The court finds that respondent committed acts of moral turpitude and dishonesty by seeking to mislead the Court of Appeal in filing the June 12, 2000, writ of mandate and failing to clarify the typographical errors in Judge Horn’s order.  Because both counts 8 and 9 involve essentially the same acts, the court is not inclined to find separate moral turpitude counts, since to do so would amount to multiple charges of what is virtually the same misconduct.  Therefore, the court elects to combine the allegations in counts 8 and 9 into a single count 8, with multiple alleged (and proven) acts of misconduct.  As a result, the State Bar has sustained its burden to prove under count 8.  Clearly, respondent willfully violated section 6106 by in filing the June 12, 2000, petition because his conduct involved moral turpitude and dishonesty.   

Counts 11 and 12 – Frivolous writ and appeal

Counts eleven and twelve are related, in that they both arise out of respondent’s acts in his untimely appeal and challenge of Commissioner Mitchell’s December 17, 1999, sanction order.  The record in this proceeding clearly establishes that, when he filed the July 24, 2000, appeal of the December 17, 1999, sanction order and when he filed the December 11, 2000, petition for writ of supersedeas attacking the December 17, 1999, sanction order, respondent knew that the time for filing them had long expired.22  Nevertheless, respondent deliberately filed the July 24, 2002, appeal and the December 11, 2000, petition to control the litigation, delay the outcome in the Shinkle case, and harass Commissioner Mitchell.  Certainly, such misconduct by an attorney involves moral turpitude.


In sum, the State Bar has met its burden to prove, by clear and convincing evidence, that respondent willfully violated section 6106 by deliberately engaging these two separate acts involving moral turpitude as charged in counts 11 and 12.

Count 13 – Frivolous appeal

As discussed above, respondent filed his appeal of the denial of class certification almost a year after the final motion for reconsideration of that issue was ruled on by Commissioner Mitchell.  This appeal was filed well beyond the 60 day period following the entry of the order denying certification.  (Rule 2(a)(2), Cal. Rules of Court.)  The court of appeal, in dismissing the appeal, noted that the commencement of this period upon entry of the order denying certification  is “well settled” in the law.  (Exhibit 139, page 9.)


Respondent testified as to extensive experience in prosecuting class actions.  Given his knowledge in the area, the court finds that respondent knew of the time limit, but attempted to further delay the proceeding and harass Commissioner Mitchell.  The Office of the Chief Trial Counsel has proven by clear and convincing evidence that respondent’s conduct constitutes moral turpitude as charged in count 13.

G.  Other State Court Actions

In several other class actions, respondent filed section 170.3 challenges against Commissioner Mitchell that were very similar to the ones respondent filed in the DiFlores and Shinkle cases.  These other actions included:  Debbs v. Department of Veterans Affairs (exhibit 144); McCormick v. Reddi Brake (exhibits 143, 146, 148); Churchfield v. Pete Wilson (exhibit 145); and Professional Services Org. v. Sony Corporation, Sharp Electric, et al., Toshiba America (exhibit 109).  The theory justifying each of these challenges was that Commissioner Mitchell had shown his bias against respondent in the DiFlores case.  Just as he did in DiFlores and Shinkle, Commissioner Mitchell properly responded to each of these meritless challenges.  (See, e.g., exhibits 149-163.) 


Each of these challenges reiterated the same claims as in previous challenges.  In fact, several simply added language reflecting Commissioner Mitchell’s most recent order in an attempt to establish the facial validity he needed to file the subsequent challenge.  (See the responses of Commissioner Mitchell:  in particular exhibits, 150, page 2; 151, page 4; 152, page 2; 155, page 2; 157, page 5;  158, page 5; 159, page 5; 161, page 5; 162, page 6; and 163, page 6.)

Culpability Findings Count 14 – Frivolous challenges

In at least four other cases, Professional Services Org., Debbs, Churchfield, and McCormick, respondent continued his acts as a serial filer of frivolous 170.3 challenges.  The argument for disqualification of Commissioner Mitchell was essentially that Commissioner Mitchell was biased in DiFlores and Shinkle.  This alleged bias had already been examined and rejected by multiple judges and courts.  Therefore, the foundation of these new challenges was also flawed.  An examination of the entire record reveals that respondent repeatedly filed 170.3 challenges against Commissioner Mitchell in multiple civil actions to delay the proceedings and harass Commissioner Mitchell.  In these goals, respondent was successful.  Each time the challenges were made, the proceedings before Commissioner Mitchell were stayed, holding hundreds of litigants and their attorneys hostage all for respondent’s corrupt motives.  Our system cannot withstand such malicious tactics.  Moreover, such acts clearly involve moral turpitude.  Thus, record clearly establishes that respondent is culpable of willfully violating section 6106 by committing the acts of moral turpitude charged in count 14.       


H.  Lewin Federal Court Action

The origin of this case has a familiar ring.  It arises after a judge denied respondent the attorney’s fees to which he felt he was entitled.


On March 15, 2002, respondent filed a civil rights lawsuit in the United States District Court for the Central District of California:  Los Angeles County Ass'n of Environmental Health Specialists v. Lewin (C.D. Cal. 2002) 215 F.Supp.2d 1071 (hereafter “Lewin federal court action”).  The Lewin federal court action his its beginnings in 1994, when respondent, representing plaintiffs in a class action, won a judgment in the state court class action of LACAOEHS v. Los Angeles County in the Los Angeles Superior Court (case number 110446).  In that case, the assigned judge – Judge Kurt Lewin –  found that the County of Los Angeles had been violating state laws by not maintaining certain funds separate, but rather had commingled those funds with the general fund.


Under the private attorneys general statute (Code Civ. Proc., § 1021.5), respondent sought an award of $1.5 million in attorney’s fees.  This request was denied by Judge Lewin.  In his order denying the request, Judge Lewin enumerated several grounds for the denial, as follows:

1.  Respondent’s client (the “Association”) was motivated primarily by self interest in bringing the lawsuit, since it was used as a bargaining chip in a labor dispute;

2.  The Association failed to show the “necessity” of the lawsuit;

3.  Allowing recovery of fees in the case would encourage unions and labor associations to sue their governmental employers for their own purposes unrelated to the labor dispute to coerce labor concessions; and

4.  The lawsuit did not confer a significant benefit on the public or a large class of persons.


Clearly, respondent did not like this ruling.  As he had done in other cases when a judge ruled against him, respondent filed a section 170.3 challenge against Judge Lewin.  He also filed, in the Court of Appeal, a document titled “petition for writ of mandate, prohibition or other appropriate relief and complaint for damages.”  (Exhibit 164.)  In that document, respondent failed to give a complete listing of the grounds upon which Judge Lewin relied in denying attorney’s fees.  Instead, respondent only gave one reason for the order:  that allowing fees would encourage unions and labor associations to sue their governmental employers.


Eventually, respondent turned to federal court to unwind Judge Lewin’s adverse ruling.  On March 15, 2002, respondent filed the complaint in the Lewin federal court action.  (Exhibit 164.)  The purported good faith theory of that action was, in simple terms, that the judicial officers of the Los Angeles Superior Court were receiving or had received certain benefits described as “local judicial benefits” from Los Angeles County; that Los Angeles Superior Court Judges were required to disclose, but did not disclose that they received such benefits in cases in which Los Angeles County was a party; and that Judge Lewin’s failure to do so in the LACAOEHS state court case violated respondent’s client's rights to equal protection, due process and access to the courts.


In the Lewin federal court action, respondent sued not only Judge Lewin, he also sued the County of Los Angeles, the Los Angeles Superior Court, and the Second District Court of Appeal.  In addition, respondent sought “damages” in the same amount – $1.5 million – that he sought as attorney’s fees in state court.


On May 31, 2002, United States District Court Judge A. Howard Matz dismissed the Lewin federal court action without leave to amend on the following three grounds:  (1) the federal courts lacked jurisdiction under the Rooker-Feldman Doctrine; (2) Judge Lewin enjoyed absolute judicial immunity; and (3) the Superior Court and Court of Appeals enjoyed Eleventh Amendment immunity.  (Los Angeles County Ass'n of Environmental Health Specialists v. Lewin, supra, 215 F.Supp.2d 1071.)  Clearly, the Lewin federal court action was meritless.  On the final page of the decision, Judge Matz stated: “Given the foregoing bases for granting Defendants’ motions, the Court declines to grant leave to amend.”  (Id. at p. 1078; exhibit 165, page 13.)


Despite the order dismissing the Lewin federal action without leave to amend, on June 11, 2002, respondent filed a “Motion for Leave to File First Amended Class Action Civil Rights Complaint.”  (Exhibit 166.)  Of course, Judge Matz promptly ordered that motion stricken, since it violated his previous order of dismissal without leave to amend.  (Exhibit 167.)

Culpability Findings Counts 15 through 17
Count 15 – Frivolous action

Count fifteen alleges moral turpitude in filing a frivolous federal lawsuit to attempt to unwind the unfavorable attorney’s fee ruling by Judge Lewin.  Respondent styled the Lewin federal court action as a “petition for writ of mandate, prohibition or other appropriate relief and complaint for damages.”  The defendants in the case brought a motion to dismiss the entire filing.  As noted above, Judge Matz granted the defendants’ motion to dismiss on the grounds listed above; essentially for lack of jurisdiction and judicial immunity.  (Exhibit 165.)  In a later related case, Judge Matz aptly described the Lewin federal court action as: 

a thinly-veiled attempt by Mr. Fine to use the federal court system to attack Judge Lewin’s decision and obtain the attorney’s fees he had requested in the state case: not only did the complaint itself repeatedly ask this Court to strike Judge Lewin’s decision, but the amount of “damages” sought in the complaint for the alleged 42 U.S.C. section 1983 violations was $1.5 million, the same amount as the attorneys’ fees Mr. Fine had requested in the state case.

(Silva v. County of Los Angeles (C.D.Cal. 2002) 215 F.Supp.2d 1079, 1080; exhibit 171, page 2.)  The record in this disciplinary proceeding, however, establishes that respondent is culpable of much more than a  “thinly-veiled” attempt to obtain the $1.5 million in attorney’s fees to which respondent believed he had an absolute right.  The present record establishes that respondent did not file the Lewin federal court action in a good faith, but mistaken, belief that such an action was a proper means of challenging Judge Lewin’s ruling.  Instead, he filed it, knowing that it was an improper attempt to have a federal court overturn a state court judgment.  In addition, respondent filed it to haul Judge Lewin and the three named Court of Appeal Justice into federal court to harass them.  Such misuses of the federal courts involves moral turpitude.


The State Bar has met its burden of proof by clearly establishing that respondent willfully violated section 6106 by misusing the federal court in an attempt to overturn state court judgments and orders as charged in count 15.

Count 16 – Frivolous action

Count 16 alleges facts which highlight respondent’s utter disdain for any court order that contradicts what he feels is the “right” position (i.e., his position.)  When faced with an unequivocal order that the complaint in Lewin was dismissed without leave to amend, respondent ignored the federal court’s order and filed a motion for leave to amend.  (Exhibit 166.)  His proposed amended civil rights complaint dropped the Los Angeles Superior Court as an entity, but added, as individuals, Superior Court Judge James C. Chalfant,23 Court of Appeal Justice Kathryn Doi Todd,24 and Commissioner Mitchell as defendants.  None of these three judicial officers had anything to do with the underlying state court LACAOEHS case.  However, all of them had made rulings adverse to respondent in other cases.25  


Respondent ignored a court order denying him leave to amend.  This court finds he did so knowingly, willfully, and with an intent to delay the case and harass the trial judge and the other individually named judicial officers.  Thus, the State Bar has clearly met its burden to establish that respondent willfully violated section 6106 by engaging in acts involving moral turpitude charged in count 16.

Count 17 – Misrepresentation to a court

Count seventeen alleges that respondent committed an act of moral turpitude by failing to list all the grounds for Judge Lewin’s order denying attorney’s fees in his petition/complaint in Lewin federal court case.  When viewed in isolation (which is the manner in which it is charged) this misconduct does not rise to the level of an act or moral turpitude.  Accordingly, count 17 is dismissed with prejudice for want of proof.

I.  Silva Federal Court Action

On June 13, 2002, respondent filed a second federal court action:  Silva v. County of Los Angeles (C.D.Cal. 2002) 215 F.Supp.2d 1079 (hereafter “Silva federal court action”).  As the prelude to this second federal court action, respondent had previously filed, in the Los Angeles Superior Court, a class action case entitled Silva v. Garcetti, in which respondent’s clients sought to force the County of Los Angeles to change the way it held and disbursed child support payments it had received from non-custodial parents.  The details of the state court Silva case are not particularly significant, except for the following facts:  the case was assigned to Judge Chalfant; respondent was unsuccessful at trial, with the matter being decided on a motion for directed verdict; respondent appealed the case to the Court of Appeal; the appeal was assigned to Division Two; and Court of Appeal Justices Doi Todd, Boren, and Nott unanimously affirmed the Judge Chalfant’s order of directed verdict.  (Exhibit 168.)  The Supreme Court denied review by order of  May 22, 2002.


On June 13, 2002, after receiving the Supreme Court’s denial of review, respondent filed the Silva federal court action against the County of Los Angeles, Judge Chalfant, Commissioner Mitchell, and Court of Appeal Justices Doi Todd, Boren and Nott alleging violations of due process and equal protection.  (Exhibit 170.)  The purported good faith theory of this Silva federal court action was the same as that in the Lewin federal court action except this time respondent complained that Judge Chalfant’s failure to disclose, in the Silva v. Garcetti state court action, that he received “local judicial benefits” from Los Angeles County violated respondent’s client's rights to equal protection, due process and access to the courts.


On August 6, 2002, District Court Judge Matz dismissed the Silva federal court action with prejudice because the plaintiffs lacked standing and because the complaint failed to state a claim for due process or any other constitutional violation.  (Silva v. County of Los Angeles, supra, 215 F.Supp.2d 1079, 1086, 1088.)  Clearly, the Silva federal court action was also meritless.


In the Silva federal court action, respondent narrowly avoided being sanctioned by Judge Matz.  After denying sanctions, Judge Matz clearly stated:

[T]he Court is constrained to note that this is the second time that Mr. Fine has used his ‘local judicial benefits’ theory to file an ill-conceived and meritless complaint against state judges who have ruled against his client or him in state court proceedings. ...  If Mr. Fine contemplates filing another complaint in federal court attacking the next state court judge who rules against him, he is on notice that the Court has inherent authority to impose sanctions in the amount spent by the Defendants in filing meritorious motions to dismiss.

(Silva v. County of Los Angeles, supra, 215 F.Supp.2d at p. 1088; exhibit 171, page 16; emphasis added.)


At trial in this State Bar Court disciplinary proceeding, upon being asked why he chose the named judicial officers as defendants, respondent answered simply that he knew that they had received these benefits and that his selection of them as named defendants had nothing to do with prior rulings that they may have made against him or his clients.  Respondent’s testimony lacks credibility.

Culpability Findings Counts 18 and 19
Count 18 – Frivolous action
 
When respondent did not get his way in the Silva v. Garcetti state court case, he lashed out again.  This time, he focused his sights on the judicial officers who had ruled against him in Silva v. Garcetti, both at the trial and the appellate level.  In addition, he named his old nemesis, Commissioner Mitchell, just “for good measure.”26  


Any argument respondent had that his legal position and theory behind the Silva federal court case was fashioned in good faith, is belied by his choice of defendants alone.  In a completely transparent attempt at harassment, intimidation and retaliation, respondent named each judge that handled the case at the trial and appellate level, plus Commissioner Mitchell.


Respondent misused the federal courts in an attempt to undue state court judgments and orders with which he disagreed.  Judge Matz correctly concluded that respondent’s complaint in the Silva federal court case was “ill-conceived and meritless.”  (Exhibit 171, page 16.)  Judge Matz had particularly harsh words for respondent’s naming Commissioner Mitchell as a defendant:

Although the complaint styles the suit as a defendant class action, the particular state judges or judicial officers who are singled out and named in the caption all issued rulings that are unfavorable to Mr. Fine.  This suggests to the Court that the purpose of the complaint is not to vindicate Mr. Fine’s client’s interest, but rather to punish judges who have ruled against him.  This vindictiveness is particularly egregious in the case of Commissioner Mitchell, who is not alleged to have had anything to do with the Silva v. Garcetti lawsuit.

(Exhibit 171, page 16.)

 
Judge Matz correctly concluded that respondent filed the Silva federal court action for an entirely inappropriate purpose.  However, the record in this proceeding establishes respondent’s culpability for more extensive misconduct.  Clearly, respondent filed this frivolous federal court action to harass the judicial officers named.  Respondent is culpable of willfully violating section 6106 by engaging in the acts involving moral turpitude charged in count 18.

Count 19 – Targeting defendants for purposes of harassment

Count 19 focuses on respondent’s naming of individual judicial officers as defendants in the Silva federal court action as additional proof that the action was frivolous and that respondent filed it with the intent to vex, harass, and annoy.  The court, however, used the misconduct charged in count 19 to find respondent culpable of the misconduct charged in count 18.  Accordingly, count 19 is dismissed with prejudice as duplicative of count 18.

J.  Mitchell Federal Court Action

On October 14, 2003, respondent filed yet a third civil rights complaint in federal district court against various state judicial officers.  (Exhibit 173.)  The complaint was verified by respondent.  Notwithstanding Judge Matz’s findings and warnings in the Lewin and Silva federal court actions, respondent still failed to reform his conduct to that required of an officer of the court (i.e., an attorney).  In this Mitchell federal court action, respondent sued Commissioner Mitchell; Superior Court Judges Czuleger and Dukes; and Court of Appeal Justices Boren, Nott and Doi Todd; Joseph A. Lane, the Clerk of the Court of Appeal (Second Appellate District); and John A. Clark, the Clerk of the Los Angeles Superior Court.  In an allegation that would be comical if not so serious, respondent claimed that the defendants personally used state action to deny respondent “meaningful access to the courts.”  In addition, respondent alleged that they denied him due process, equal protection, property interests, among other rights.


In essence, the Mitchell federal court action was for injunctive relief, seeking to prevent the various named judicial officers and court officials from performing various “ministerial” acts and ordering them to do others.  For example, an injunction was sought against Commissioner Mitchell preventing him from acting as a temporary judge in the DiFlores case, and requiring him to annul various orders.  Respondent requested that Judge Czuleger be enjoined and ordered to stay the execution of the judgment of contempt; that Judge Dukes be enjoined and ordered to remove Commissioner Mitchell from the DiFlores case forthwith; that the three named Court of Appeal Justices be enjoined and ordered to void, annul, strike, de-publish any reference to Fine v. Superior Court (2002) 97 Cal.App.4th 651and further to remove themselves from any further appeal involving respondent; that Joseph A. Lane be enjoined and ordered to similarly void any reference to the Fine v. Superior Court opinion; and that John Clark be ordered to void and remove all orders signed by Commissioner Mitchell.  All of the defendants were named in their individual capacity.


All parties filed motions to dismiss the complaint.  By order dated April 8, 2004, United States District Court Judge Gary L. Taylor dismissed the action with prejudice.  (Exhibit 174.)  Judgment to that effect was entered against respondent that same day.  (Exhibit 175.)  


Nonetheless, on April 19, 2004, respondent filed a motion to amend the judgment dismissing the complaint and set that motion for a hearing before Judge Taylor.  (Exhibit 176.)  Of course, on May 19, 2004, Judge Taylor ordered the meritless motion off calendar and denied it in chambers.  (See court minutes, exhibit 177.)

Culpability Findings Counts 20 through 22
Count 20 – Frivolous action

This count alleges that, with respect to defendants Mitchell, Czuleger, Boren, Nott, and Doi Todd, respondent deliberately filed the Mitchell federal court action for the legally unsound, meritless, and frivolous purpose of seeking to have the federal courts overturn adverse decisions of the state courts.  Respondent argued at trial (and alleged in his complaint) that the actions complained of were purely “ministerial” in nature and, therefore, not precluded by the Rooker-Feldman doctrine.


As Judge Taylor found in his order dismissing that case, respondent’s purported theory was again wrong.  In fact, Judge Taylor stated that it was “difficult to imagine what remedy this Court could award in this case that would not eviscerate the state court’s judgments.”  (Exhibit 174, page 10.)  While acknowledging that the District Court could have original jurisdiction to entertain petitions for habeas corpus, Judge Taylor flatly rejected that this applied to respondent, since his habeas petition had already been dismissed as moot (after Commissioner Mitchell voided his contempt order.)


Once again, respondent has placed before a federal court a claim with absolutely no substance or merit.  Respondent’s substantial litigation experience and outstanding academic credentials belie his claims that he filed this action against these defendants with a good faith belief that he could prevail.  In any event, this court finds respondent’s testimony incredible.  Clearly, respondent is culpable of willfully violating section 6106 by engaging in the acts involving moral turpitude charged in count 20.

Counts 21 & 22 – Frivolous actions

Counts 21 and 22 both allege essentially the same facts, but focus on different defendants in the Mitchell federal court case.  As such, these two counts will be considered together.  Having filed several other actions seeking the same or similar relief and having been rejected in each, the Mitchell federal court action injected a new category of defendants into respondent’s stream of frivolous lawsuits.  Respondent sought to have a federal judge instruct the then Presiding Judge of the Los Angeles Superior Court to unwind various orders and actions of other judicial officers.  In addition, respondent sought to have a federal judge instruct the clerks in two state courts to remove references to a published Court of Appeal opinion (i.e., Fine v. Superior Court (2002) 97 Cal.App.4th 651) and to multiple orders signed by Commissioner Mitchell.27

Further, at the time, respondent knew that these requests were frivolous and improper.  Nevertheless, he deliberately sought them for multiple corrupt reasons.  Clearly, respondent is culpable of willfully violating section 6106 by engaging in the acts involving moral turpitude charged in counts 21 and 22.
5.  LEVEL OF DISCIPLINE

A.  Aggravation

There are several aggravating factors affecting the court’s discipline recommendation.



1.  Multiple acts & Pattern of Misconduct.

Clearly, respondent is culpable of multiple acts of wrongdoing, including multiple acts of moral turpitude.  That fact is a serious aggravating circumstance.  (Rules Proc. of State Bar, tit. IV, Stds. for Atty. Sanctions for Prof. Misconduct, std. 1.2(b)(ii) [all further references to standards are to this source].)  


Finding a pattern of misconduct is not limited to the counts pleaded.  (Std. 1.2(b)(ii); In the Matter of Robins (Review Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 708, 714, citing Grim v. State Bar (1991) 53 Cal.3d 21, 34.)  Yet, to be considered pattern-of-misconduct aggravation, an attorney's misconduct must involve serious misconduct over an extended period of time.  (Levin v. State Bar (1989) 47 Cal.3d 1140, 1149-1150 & 1150, fn. 14.)  Respondent misconduct clearly meets these requirements.


Respondent’s misconduct clearly establishes a pattern of misconduct in which respondent deliberately and for an extended period of time misused this state’s statutory process for challenging a judicial officer’s qualification (i.e., impartiality) to decide a proceeding (Code Civ. Proc., § 170 et seq.) and then deliberately and repeatedly filed frivolous federal court actions against any judicial officer (including Superior Court Judges and Court of Appeal Justices) who ruled against him, in an attempt to coerce or intimidate the judicial officer into ruling in respondent’s favor and to have those same judicial officers improperly removed from cases to which they had been duly assigned.  This pattern of misconduct is an extremely aggravating circumstance because the misconduct underlying the pattern involved acts of moral turpitude.



2.  Bad Faith.

Standard 1.2(b)(iii) allows the court to consider in aggravation the fact that an attorney’s misconduct was surrounded by or followed by bad faith, dishonesty, concealment, or overreaching.  In this case, respondent did not repeatedly file the frivolous challenges and civil rights lawsuits against multiple judicial officers or file multiple meritless appeals out of some misguided notion of protecting his clients’ rights or interests; he did so in bad faith and for reasons of harassment, delay, and revenge.  However, the State Bar has not provided clear and convincing evidence of any bad faith, dishonesty, concealment, or overreaching that is substantially independent or separate from that underlying the found misconduct.  (In the Matter of Chesnut (Review Dept. 2000) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 166, 176.)  Therefore, the court declines to find additional aggravation under standard 1.2(b)(iii).



3.  Significant Harm.

Standard 1.2(b)(iv) allows the court to consider significant harm to a client, the public, or the administration of justice as an aggravating circumstance.  Clearly, respondent’s misconduct caused significant harm to his clients and to the administration of justice.  His actions unduly delayed the resolution of his clients’s claims, and they unduly delayed the resolution of other class member plaintiffs’ claims.  However, to the extent that a significant portion of this harm is inherent in the found misconduct of filing frivolous pleadings, appeals, and lawsuits, it would be duplicative to rely on that harm as aggravation.  (In the Matter of Hunter (Review Dept. 1994) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 63, 76, citing In the Matter of Trousil (Review Dept. 1990) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 229, 240 [harm to administration of justice is inherent in the unauthorized practice of law].)


Nonetheless, respondent’s misconduct caused significantly more harm to the administration of justice than that which is ordinarily inherent in filing frivolous pleadings, appeals, and lawsuits.  Respondent’s misconduct seriously interfered with the efficient administration of justice and greatly burdened both the state and federal court systems.  Therefore, it is appropriate to consider this extraordinary harm as aggravation under standard 1.2(b)(iv).  (Cf. In the Matter of Dahlz (Review Dept. 2001) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 269, 283.)

  

4.  Indifference and lack of insight.

Standard 1.2(b)(v) allows the court to find aggravation where an attorney demonstrates indifference toward rectification of or atonement for the consequences of his conduct.  Lack of insight into the wrongfulness of one’s misconduct is also an aggravating circumstance.


Respondent has never acknowledged the wrongfulness of his misconduct.  He has never admitted that he went too far in his attacks on judicial officers, and there is no evidence that respondent has ever formally apologized to any of his victims.  Put simply, in the face of overwhelming facts and legal authority to the contrary, respondent continues to insist that he has done no wrong.  In his closing arguments in this court, respondent asserted that he does not understand “why Commissioner Mitchell took everything the way he did.”  He then speculated that it might be because Commissioner Mitchell had applied to become a judge and that perhaps he wanted this case in his background.  Respondent opined that, if Commissioner Mitchell had not started “it” by making the adverse decisions and ruling the way he did, respondent would not have had to respond as he did.


“The law does not require false penitence.  [Citation.]  But it does require that the respondent accept responsibility for his acts and come to grips with his culpability.  [Citation.]”  (In the Matter of Katz (Review Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 502, 511.)  This is particularly true in the present case because respondent has not established a good faith basis for his continuous assertion of innocence. 


In short, respondent continues to blame everyone but himself for his outrageous and extensive misconduct.  Respondent’s total lack of recognition of wrongdoing strongly suggests that his misconduct was not aberrational and is extremely likely to recur.  (Std. 1.2(b)(v); Blair v. State Bar (1989) 49 Cal.3d 762, 781-782; see also Garlow v. State Bar (1988) 44 Cal.3d 689, 711 [lack of remorse is an aggravating factor].)  It also strongly suggests that respondent’s problems are long standing and deep seated.  Therefore, the court considers respondent’s indifference and lack of insight as aggravating factors.



5.  Lack of cooperation.

As noted above, respondent’s conduct in the present proceeding, which includes repeatedly filing meritless motions, demonstrates a “contemptuous attitude towards the disciplinary proceedings [which] is relevant to the determination of an appropriate sanction.  [Citations.]”  (Weber v. State Bar (1988) 47 Cal.3d 492, 507.)  Despite his duty “To cooperate and participate in any . . . disciplinary proceeding pending against himself” (§ 6068, subd. (i)), respondent has repeatedly engaged in conduct and “procedural” maneuvering in this court that evidences a scheme to delay the trial and final adjudication of the disciplinary charges in this proceeding which unnecessarily consumed the limited resources of this court.  It is this court’s view that respondent’s failure to cooperate by his actions is another aggravating factor.


B.  Mitigation


1.  No prior record of discipline.

Respondent does not have a prior record of discipline.  He was admitted to practice in 1973, and his misconduct began in late 1999.  Thus, he practiced law 26 years, discipline and misconduct free.  Respondent’s 26 years of discipline-free practice preceding his misconduct is a very compelling mitigating circumstance even though the present misconduct is extremely serious.  (Std. 1.2(e)(1); In the Matter of Stamper (Review Dept. 1990) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 96, 106, fn. 13.)



2.  Community Service.

Respondent submitted evidence of mitigation in the form of his own testimony in which he set forth a brief description of his personal background, legal career, and community service activities.  (E.g., Rose v. State Bar (1989) 49 Cal.3d 646, 665.)  As noted above, respondent has had an interesting career with a varied group of clients and causes.  Often, he has participated in and been recognized for activities that benefit the profession.  For example, he is the “Honorary Consul General” to the King of Norway, handling legal problems that nation has in the United States.  He was the chair of the State Bar’s antitrust section, and was a founder of the State Bar’s international section.  He won various awards, including an award from the Black Republican Women and the Judeo-Christian Alliance.


However, not only was respondent’s description of his community service brief, several examples given were in the nature of self-congratulatory reflections on his character.  As an example, he referred to himself as the “Don Quixote of the Law” and “The People’s Lawyer.”  He recalled that the Los Angeles Daily Journal referred to him as “The Taxpayers’ Attorney.”  He noted that he was a member of the Cosmos Club in Washington D.C., where one is invited to join because of one’s “accomplishments in life.”  He said he was invited because he used law to “creatively help people.”  


He stated that he is a Founder at the Music Center in Los Angeles, is on the International Circle of the World Affairs Council, and is active in the International Law section of the American Bar Association.  He considers himself “an optimist”, and a “spiritual person,” “looking for the good in people.”    


He described many cases where he helped “the little guy” in fighting a claim that no one else would take.  He contends that he often takes on “governments” or “power structures.”  For example, he handled the case against the City of Los Angeles arising out of the El Al Airlines killing in the Tom Bradley International Terminal at Los Angeles International Airport.  That matter is currently in the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals.  He also represented a citizen suing the City of Long Beach to seek to preserve a Paul Williams designed building.  In another case, he sued Caesars Palace in Las Vegas to prevent the District Attorney from charging a person with passing a bad check, when the conduct involved a “marker”.  He also represented a temporary ambassador charged with illegally buying a helicopter in the Republic of Gambia, involving issues of diplomatic immunity.  In another case, he forced the United Way to designate where a person’s donations were directed.  He also noted that he stopped the State of California from taking money from funds designated for environmental protections and diverting them into the general fund.  In another matter, he helped with the legal issues involved in moving the London Bridge to the Colorado River.


If satisfactorily proven with sufficient detail, such examples of good deeds would perhaps entitle respondent to mitigation.  However, no witnesses were offered in support of his claimed mitigation in this area.  (Std. 1.2(e)(iv) [requiring that good character evidence be “attested to by a wide range of references in the legal and general communities”].)  As such, the court was left with simply having to believe respondent’s self-serving assertions as to his altruistic motives in undertaking these activities and cases.  Notably, respondent did not proffer any evidence that suggests, much less establishes, that he undertook any of these activities and cases pro bono (or for a reduced fee).


As noted above, respondent was the only informant as to his community service.  Other than crediting respondent with minimal mitigation for the awards he received from various community groups, the court is unable to credit respondent with any further mitigation based on his alleged good character and community service.



3.  Good faith.

As noted above, respondent testified and argued that he always acted with “total integrity” with “no intent to delay, harass or harm” anyone in each of the class actions and lawsuits underlying this disciplinary proceeding.  Respondent maintains that any slips or mistakes he may have made were unintentional and that, if any did occur, he regrets that fact. 


If true, and if properly proven, an attorney’s good faith is a substantial mitigating circumstance.  (Std. 1.2(e)(ii).)  But respondent’s testimony on the issue of his good faith not only lacks any credibility, it is implausible.  In fact, the record clearly establishes that respondent’s misconduct involves bad faith.  He did not act out of a motive derived from a good faith belief in his or his clients’ case.  Rather, when a judicial officer ruled against him, respondent sought to exact revenge, harass and delay.  He acted out of a desire to punish the judges who disagreed with him.  He did seek justice or a fair result for his clients.  As such, respondent is not entitled to any mitigation for good faith under standard 1.2(e)(ii).


C.  Discussion

Standard 1.3 provides that the primary purposes of discipline are to protect the public, the courts, and the legal profession; to maintain the highest possible professional standards for attorneys; and to preserve public confidence in the legal profession.  (Chadwick v. State Bar (1989) 49 Cal.3d 103, 111.)


In determining the appropriate level of discipline, this court looks first to the standards for guidance.  (Drociak v. State Bar (1991) 52 Cal.3d 1095, 1090; In the Matter of Koehler (Review Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 615, 628.)  Second, the court looks to decisional law.  (Snyder v. State Bar (1990) 49 Cal.3d 1302, 1310-1311; In the Matter of Taylor (Review Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 563, 580.)


The applicable sanction for respondent's misconduct is standard 2.3, which provides: “Culpability of a member of an act of moral turpitude, fraud, or intentional dishonesty toward a court, client or another person or of concealment of a material fact to a court, client or another person shall result in actual suspension or disbarment depending upon the extent to which the victim of the misconduct is harmed or misled and depending upon the magnitude of the act of misconduct and the degree to which it relates to the member's acts within the practice of law.”  Because respondent’s acts of moral turpitude were very serious and were committed while he was practicing law, disbarment is clearly appropriate under standard 2.3.


“Attorneys are the officers of the Court, and answerable to it for the proper performance of their professional duties.  They appear and participate in its proceedings only by the license of the Court.”  (Clark v. Willett (1868) 35 Cal. 534, 539.)  In fact, as officers of the court, attorneys have certain duties to the judicial system that override even those owed to their clients.  (In the Matter of Boyne (Review Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 389, 403.)  “The high degree of integrity, frankness and truthfulness required of [attorneys] as officers of the court cannot be underestimated.  [Citation.]”  (In the Matter of Maloney and Virsik, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 791.)    Respondent’s misconduct in the DiFlores case alone “is compelling evidence of [his] lack of understanding of [his] fiduciary obligations to the Court and the justice system.”  (Ibid.)


As the State Bar notes in its posttrial brief, the attorney in In the Matter of Varakin (Review Dept. 1994) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 179 was disbarred because, in bad faith, out of spite, and with the purpose to harm others and cause delay, the attorney habitually (1) abused the judicial system by misstating facts and failing to reveal a prior adverse ruling to trial and appellate courts, failing to follow court rules, and flouting the authority of the courts; (2) violated court orders; (3) filed baseless lawsuits; and (4) sought judicial relief for which there was no legitimate basis.


But even Varakin is distinguishable.  Varakin’s misconduct was directed primarily at an opposing party (i.e., Varakin’s ex-wife).  In contrast, respondent’s misconduct was directed primarily towards the courts and its judicial officers.  In addition, respondent’s misconduct harmed hundreds of class members and numerous opposing counsel in multiple class action lawsuits.  Respondent’s misconduct is much more egregious than that in Varakin.  It is in a class of its own.


Moreover, the present case is also distinguishable from other cases involving offenses concerning the administration of justice in which disbarment was not recommended or imposed.  For example, even though the misconduct in In the Matter of Maloney and Virsik, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 774 was serious and also involved spurious litigation tactics of an extreme nature, it did not involve revenge against judicial officers and there was substantial (if not compelling) mitigation which is not present here.  For example, the attorneys in that case presented strong evidence of their good character, longstanding commitment to community service and social justice, and extensive reputation for honesty and diligence.  In addition, unlike the misconduct in the present proceeding, the misconduct in Maloney and Virsik occurred in a single client matter over a relatively short period of time and resulted from the over-zealous representation of clients and not for personal gain or to recover attorney’s fees.  (Id. at p. 795.)


In the present proceeding, for several years, respondent deliberately misused the statutory process for challenging a judicial officer’s impartiality to decide a proceeding and did so out of spite, for revenge, and to harass almost every judicial officer who ruled against him.  This was done in an attempt to coerce or intimidate the judicial officers into ruling in his favor.  It was also done in an attempt to unjustly remove judicial officers from cases to which they had been duly assigned.  Then, when his misuse of the statutory disqualification process failed to produce the desired results, respondent moved his campaign to the federal courts where he repeatedly filed meritless lawsuits against the same state judicial officers. 


Respondent played the courts like a bully in a child’s game of dodge ball – retaliating by aggressively throwing the ball back at those who just knocked him out of the center.  But what may have started out as a game, soon escalated into a war, with meritless litigation tactics as the primary weapons.  Motions to dismiss, motions for reconsideration, more 170.3 challenges, lawsuits against judicial officers, appeals; all were lined up against respondent’s enemy.  In respondent’s world, he became a gladiator, waging battle by whatever means he could muster, irrespective of his ethical duties.


The practice of law is not a game, nor is it war.  Retaliation and revenge are not proper reasons to file motions or lawsuits, and access to our courts cannot be squandered by one lawyer’s private vendetta.


Respondent has no appreciation that his methods are at odds with the professional standards of this state.  The extensive record now before this court demonstrates both that the risk of future misconduct is great and that respondent is not a good candidate for probation or suspension.  There is nothing in the record that even remotely suggests respondent would amend his ways if allowed to continue to practice law.


In sum, the court concludes that only disbarment will adequately protect the public, the courts, and the profession; preserve confidence in the legal profession; and maintain this state’s high professional standards.

6.  RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE

This court recommends that respondent RICHARD ISAAC FINE be disbarred from the practice of law in the State of California and that his name be stricken from the Roll of Attorneys of all persons admitted to practice in this state.

7.  RULE 9.20

The court further recommends that FINE be ordered to comply with California Rules of Court, rule 9.20 and to perform the acts specified in subdivisions (a) and (c) of that rule within 30 and 40 calendar days, respectively, after the effective date of the Supreme Court order in this matter.28
8.  COSTS

Finally, the court recommends that costs be awarded to the State Bar in accordance with Business and Professions Code section 6086.10 and are enforceable both as provided in Business and Professions Code section 6140.7 and as a money judgment.

9.  ORDER OF INACTIVE ENROLLMENT

In accordance with Business and Professions Code section 6007, subdivision (c)(4), it is ordered that RICHARD ISAAC FINE be involuntarily enrolled as an inactive member of the State Bar of California effective three court days after service of this 

decision and order by mail (Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 220(c)).29
	Dated: October 12, 2007.
	RICHARD A. HONN

Judge of the State Bar Court


	1Unless otherwise noted, all further references to rules are to these Rules of Procedure of the State Bar of California.


	2In this “motion” portion of his June 1, 2007, posttrial brief, respondent primarily repeats contentions that he has previously raised in one or more of his earlier motions, each of which this court has previously considered and rejected.  For example, in his June 1, 2007, brief, respondent again contends that this proceeding must be dismissed because it is purportedly barred by the five-year limitations period set forth in rule 51(a).  Clearly, respondent still refuses to accept that the five-year limitations period in rule 51(a) is not applicable in this proceeding.  This proceeding is clearly authorized by, among other things, rules 51(b) and 51(e).  This proceeding is authorized by rule 51(b) because respondent’s misconduct involved multiple continuing offenses.  Similarly, it is authorized by rule 51(e) because the record conclusively establishes multiple sources of information regarding respondent’s misconduct that are independent of any time-barred complainant.  For example, there is a published 2002 Court of Appeal opinion that details a significant portion of respondent’s misconduct (Fine v. Superior Court (2002) 97 Cal.App.4th 651, review den. May 22, 2000).  In addition, there are multiple federal court pleadings that respondent filed in 2002 through early 2004 and a published federal district court order (Silva v. County of Los Angeles (C.D.Cal. 2002) 215 F.Supp.2d 1079) that detail much of the charged misconduct.  (See also Los Angeles County Ass'n of Environmental Health Specialists v. Lewin (C.D. Cal. 2002) 215 F.Supp.2d 1071.)  


	In addition, even if rule 51(a) were applicable in this proceeding, rule 51(a) is not jurisdictional.  (Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 64; see also In the Matter of Pyle (Review Dept. 1998) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 929, 935.)  In that regard, the court notes that even if the State Bar filed this proceeding after the five-year limitation period in rule 51(a), the extensive 











misconduct established in this proceeding alone would establish good cause for granting the State Bar leave to file the proceeding late.  (Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 64(a), (b).)  The Supreme Court has repeatedly held that “ ‘Whatever prompted the inquiry into [an attorney’s] conduct, it is that conduct itself which warrants discipline. [Citations.]  . . .  Accordingly, only such irregularities in the State Bar proceedings as reasonably can be seen to have resulted in unfairness to the attorney would cause us to disregard his misconduct disclosed thereby.  No such unfairness is apparent here.”  (In re Gross (1983) 33 Cal.3d 561, 566-567.)





	3In this October 4, 2007, motion to dismiss, respondent again primarily repeats contentions that he has previously raised and that this court has previously considered and rejected.


	4Throughout the record in DiFlores and in this proceeding, Paul DiFlores’s last name is spelled a number of ways including DeFlores and Di Flores.  For consistency, this court uses the spelling DiFlores. 


	5Notably, respondent never complained about Commissioner Mitchell or challenged Commissioner Mitchell’s authority or jurisdiction to effectuate the stipulated judgment, oversee the claims process, and enforce the settlement agreement so long as Commissioner Mitchell ruled in respondent’s favor.  (See footnote 27 below.)  As the facts recited below establish, respondent did not complain about or challenge Commissioner Mitchell’s jurisdiction until after he made rulings that did not favor respondent.


	6The superior court minutes of the November 15 hearing also state:  “It is stipulated by counsel that this matter may be heard by Commissioner Bruce E. Mitchell.  Stipulation is signed and filed this date.”


	7As noted below, respondent also filed statements of disqualification against Commissioner Mitchell in other class actions in which respondent represented plaintiffs.


	8Respondent’s petition does not contain a prayer that clearly identifies the orders for which he seeks a stay.


	9Respondent also filed his June 5, 2000, challenge in seven other class action cases that were pending before Commissioner Mitchell and in which respondent represented the plaintiffs.


	10The response of Commissioner Mitchell is 167 pages long. 


	11See Fine v. Superior Court, supra, 97 Cal.App.4th at page 660.


	12Respondent twice sought review, in the California Supreme Court, of the Court of Appeal’s opinion in Fine v. Superior Court.  First, respondent filed a petition for writ of mandate/prohibition, which the Supreme Court denied without an opinion on May 22, 2002.  Second, respondent filed an application for stay and a petition for review, which the Supreme Court also denied without an opinion on October 30, 2002.


	Because the California Supreme Court refused to review the Court of Appeal’s opinion affirming Commissioner Mitchell’s September 24, 2001, contempt order, respondent sought to collaterally attack the September 24, 2001, contempt order by filing a writ of habeas corpus in federal district court.  In that writ, respondent attacked the contempt order on the grounds that it was issued without a hearing before an independent judge as required by federal constitutional law.  Presumably, respondent waived any such procedural error because he failed to raise his claims at trial in the superior court or in his prior appeals to California Court of Appeal and the California Supreme Court.  Nonetheless, on August 21, 2002, Commissioner Mitchell entered an order voiding and vacating the September 24, 2001, contempt order because of procedural problems.  Of course, Commissioner Mitchell did not and could not void or vacate the final Court of Appeal opinion in Fine v. Superior Court, supra, 97 Cal.App.4th 651.  In any event, respondent should have taken advantage of the Court Appeal’s detailed analysis of his extensive misconduct in the DiFlores case from November 1999 through at least September 5, 2001, and reformed his conduct to that required of an officer of the court.  Obviously, respondent failed to do so.			


	13This reference is actually to page 52 of the order, which was incorrectly marked as Bates stamped 51.  There is no Bates Stamp for page 2 of the order, causing the pagination to be incorrect from that point forward.


	14On October 22, 2003, the California Supreme Court denied respondent’s application for stay and petition for habeas corpus seeking to annul Judge Czuleger’s contempt judgment.  (Exhibits 88 & 90.)  Likewise, the federal district court rejected respondent’s petition for writ of habeas corpus with respect to Judge Czuleger’s contempt judgment.


	15The term misappropriation covers a wide range of conduct.  At least in the context of attorney discipline, not all misappropriations involve moral turpitude, dishonesty, or corruption.  (In the Matter of Hagan (Review Dept. 1992) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 153, 167-68 citing Sternlieb v. State Bar (1990) 52 Cal.3d 317, 324-328; Dudugjian v. State Bar (1991) 52 Cal.3d 1092, 1095, 1096-1098.)


	16It is not sufficient that the State Bar establish that respondent’s accusation of misappropriation is unsupported by any facts or that respondent mischaracterized his inflammatory accusations at the hearing in this proceeding.  The State Bar must prove the accusation false.


	17The other matters sent to Judge Horn included similar 170.3 challenges against Commissioner Mitchell in four other cases: Debbs vs. Department of Veterans Affairs (Exhibit 110); McCormick vs. Reddi Brake (Exhibit 112); Churchfield vs. Pete Wilson (Exhibit 111); and Professional Services vs. Sony Corporation (Exhibit 109).   


	18The total number of pages comprising the challenges and supporting documents from respondent that Judge Horn was called upon to review in deciding this motion exceeded 475 pages.  This does not include the responses to each filed by Commissioner Mitchell.    


	19Also on June 5, 2000, respondent filed a 170.3 challenge in Shinkle, DiFlores and the other cases sent to Judge Horn.  This challenge has already been referred to as Exhibit 29 (the second 170.3 challenge described in the discussion of the DiFlores case, above.)  It is also marked as Exhibit 115.  As noted above, Commissioner Mitchell filed his response on June 12, 2000.  (Exhibit 118.)


	20Section 170.4, subdivision (c)(1) provides: “If a statement of disqualification is filed after a trial or hearing has commenced by the start of voir dire, by the swearing of the first witness or by the submission of a motion for decision, the judge whose impartiality has been questioned may order the trial or hearing to continue, notwithstanding the filing of the statement of disqualification. The issue of disqualification shall be referred to another judge for decision as provided in subdivision (a) of Section 170.3, and if it is determined that the judge is disqualified, all orders and rulings of the judge found to be disqualified made after the filing of the statement shall be vacated.” 





	21An order denying class certification is appealable at the time it is entered, and must by filed within 60 days thereof.  (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 2(a)(2); Linder v. Thrifty Oil Co. (2000) 23 Cal.4th 429, 435.)


	22The Court of Appeal made the same finding.  (Exhibit 139, page 19.)


	23Judge Chalfant was the trial judge in the state court case of Silva v. Garcetti, which is discussed below.


	24As noted above, Kathryn Doi Todd was a justice of the Court of Appeal, who heard appeals brought by respondent in some of the cases discussed in this decision.


	25See the discussion, above, in DiFlores and Shinkle.


	26Nothing in the Silva v. Garcetti case had anything to do with Commissioner Mitchell.  In fact, no factual allegations even involved Commissioner Mitchell.  (Exhibit 168.)


	27Of course, the complaint asks that the District Court order the Superior Court Clerk to remove all orders signed by Commissioner Mitchell, except the order granting respondent advanced fees entered on October 4, 1999.  (Exhibit 14.)  (See footnote 5 above.)


	28Respondent is required to file a rule 9.20(c) affidavit even if he has no clients to notify.  (Powers v. State Bar (1988) 44 Cal.3d 337, 341.)  In addition to being punished as a crime or a contempt, an attorney's failure to comply with rule 9.20 is also, inter alia, a ground for denying his or her petition for reinstatement after disbarment.  (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 9.20(d).)


	29Only active members of the State Bar may lawfully practice law in California.  (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 6125.)  It is a crime for an attorney who has been enrolled inactive (or disbarred) to practice law, to attempt to practice of law, or to even hold himself or herself out as entitled to practice law.  (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 6126, subd. (b).)  Moreover, an attorney who has been enrolled inactive (or disbarred) may not lawfully represent others before any state agency or in any administrative hearing even if laypersons are otherwise authorized to do so.  (Ibid.; Benninghoff v. Superior Court (2006) 136 Cal.App.4th 61, 66-73.)
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